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REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: Good morning. I'll 

11 the hearing to order. This is the Judiciary Committee 

aring on House Resolution 100, which is an overview of 

ergy costs in Pennsylvania. We have several members from 

1 over the state, bipartisan. And we have a lot of 

ople that are ready to do some presenting. 

So unfortunately, the Chairman was unable to 

here. But we do, as I said, have a lot of esteemed 

mbers who I'd call upon to do the important task of 

troducing themselves. We'll start with the far right, 

e most senior, probably oldest member here. 

REPRESENTATIVE FEESE: Brett Feese, Lycoming 

unty. 

REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: Good morning. 

thy Manderino, Philadelphia County. 

REPRESENTATIVE MAITLAND: Steve Maitland, 

ams County. 

REPRESENTATIVE PALLONE: Good morning. John 

Hone, Westmoreland and Allegheny Counties. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: And I am Will Gabig 

om Carlisle, representing Cumberland and part of York 

unty. The first — and Michael Schwoyer, the Chief 

unsel, is here. And he's the one that will hopefully 

ide us through this important hearing. 

The first person on the agenda is Robert 
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senthal, Director of Bureau of Fixed Utility Services, 

nnsylvania Public Utility Commission. Sir, are you 

epared? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: Yes, I am, sir. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: You may proceed. 

MR. ROSENTHAL: Good morning, members of the 

mmittee. Thank you for inviting the Pennsylvania Public 

ility Commission to testify on the matters addressed in 

use Resolution 100 of 2001. I am Robert Rosenthal, 

rector of the Commission's Bureau of Fixed Utility 

rvices, with responsibilities to provide technical 

rvices to the Commission and its bureaus in the areas of 

tural gas, electricity, telecommunications, water, 

stewater, steam heat, and oil pipelines. 

The PUC is just one of the agencies having 

risdiction over the activities of the energy industry. 

e other primary state agency having jurisdiction is the 

partment of Environmental Protection, which deals with 

e exploration and production of natural gas from wells 

d also waste, water, and wastewater permits and air 

ission permits from electric generating facilities in 

nnsylvania. 

The PUC is the primary economic regulator of 

e industry under the auspices of PA Consolidated Statutes 

. 66. Now, particular relevance to today's discussion 
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e Chapters 22, natural gas competition, and Chapter 28, 

structuring of the electric industry. 

Now, I have provided the committee with fairly-

tailed written testimony on the industries. But this 

rning, I am presenting an educational introduction to the 

dustry and its participants. 

To begin with, the Pennsylvania electric 

dustry, we are one of the leading producers and consumers 

electricity. We are a net exporter of power. We 

oduce more than we consume. We principally serve the 

gional markets of New Jersey, Delaware, New York, and 

ryland. 

As you can see from the slide, we have 

bstantial investment in production facilities, lines; and 

supply a great deal of the power for the region. We 

ve 5.2 million electric customers. The electric market 

segmented into generation, transmission, and 

stribution sectors. 

The generators produce the power. The 

ansmission system moves the power to market consuming 

nters at high voltage. And the distribution system moves 

e power locally to individual homes and businesses at 

wer voltages. During your ongoing presentations, you 

11 also hear witnesses refer to these various segments. 

For context, your individual homes are 
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anected to the distribution system. You probably notice 

rge transmission towers and their large wires as you move 

ross the state. And finally, the generation facilities 

s principally located in remote and rural communities and 

ong waterways for cooling. 

With the advent of Chapter 28 in 1996, the 

ectric industry has undergone significant reorganization, 

ich has resulted in the shifting of the generation 

silities to either unregulated subsidiaries or new 

ayers in the Pennsylvania market. 

The 6 largest producers of power in the state 

e identified on the slide. But there are also new 

aller facilities owned by such firms as AES, Air 

oducrs, Williams, and PG Energy. Generation development 

s been a tremendous success story from the PA 

structuring with new proposed generation that should 

sure reliable resource for the new decade. 

Of particular note is the development of wind 

neration. Two facilities have opened — these are wind 

rms — and 2 more are planned. You may have driven east 

om Pittsburgh and noticed the one located on the 

iintains outside of Somerset. 

These new development of wind generation are 

a particular note because they have been developed as a 

suit of consumers asking for these resources to be 
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veloped. But the principal source of power in 

nnsylvania is from coal, with nuclear also a major 

ntributor. 

We have significant oil-based, hydro-based, 

d gas and dual fire-based units. This is a breakdown of 

e megawattage associated with the size of the units. But 

e economies of production favors the use of coal and 

clear with more than 95 percent of our actual generation 

ing from those sources. 

This mix is changing, as the new development 

primarily gas-fired and designed to meet the peak 

mands of the system. Later this morning, you will hear 

me additional comments from PJM on this development and 

s impacts. 

But coal is king in Pennsylvania. The 

jority of Pennsylvania generation uses coal, and it's 

om PA mines. It may be blended with other coal for 

ission purposes. And the other principal region we 

ceive our coal from is West Virginia. PA companies do 

n units in West Virginia and in Ohio, which use local 

al at those units. 

Now, none of the PA units routinely use either 

uthern lignite or what is known as Powder River Basin 

al located in Wyoming. They don't ship their coal to 

nnsylvania for consumption. 
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Fuels must be transported from either the well 

the mine to the generating unit. Most of our coal uses 

il for its transport. Where water courses permit, such 

Western PA, barges are also used. Conveyors are used at 

mmoth generation plants, and trucks are used at smaller 

its to haul in local coal. That can be used for blending 

for full use of the local facility. 

Oil is moved by pipeline to 2 major oil-fired 

neration stations. But most stations also have small 

esel units. That all comes in tank cars, tank trucks, or 

ver barges. That gets the combustible fuel to the 

ation. 

To get the power out, the generation stations 

e interconnected to the transmission grid. In order for 

e transmission grid to operate reliably, the transmission 

stem operates under criteria established by reliability 

uncils. Two councils control PA operations. 

The Mid-Atlantic Area Council owns the 

jority of the state, and it is actually coincident in 

ze with the PJM. And the East Central Area Council 

fects the western part of the state. These councils were 

rmed in the late 1960s as a result of the New York City 

ackout that cascaded through the whole East Coast. 

The councils provide voluntary operating 

andards to be followed by the member companies in order 
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ensure that we operate a safe and reliable system. But 

e grid itself and its investments are under the 

gulatory authority of the Federal Energy Regulatory 

mmission, or the FERC. And this is as a result of the 

RC, the Federal Energy Policy Act of 1992. 

Through their initiatives, we have witnessed 

e transformation of the old PJM Interconnection into the 

M independent system operator. FERC has used the PJM as 

example and is seeking to expand its scope of operations 

include Western Pennsylvania under the PJM West proposal 

d into the northeast to form 1 of the 4 super regional 

Os. 

In the Midwest, we have competing transmission 

ganizations vying for operational control of the 

ansmission grid: The Alliance ISO led by AEP, First 

ergy, and Dominion; and the Midwest ISO, which is based 

rther west in Indianapolis. 

In any case, the purpose of these ISOs is to 

ovide interconnection evaluation when generators need to 

ok onto the grid. They also provide congestion 

nagement, as power does, as the term might be, get mucked 

and not flow. That is done by analysis and by 

dispatching of the generating units. 

Then there is also market operations for the 

id. And in PJM's case, they operate both energy and 
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pacity markets in conjunction with its operation. And 

ey will provide you much more detail on this issue. 

The electric distribution companies are the 

miliar names that have served Pennsylvania for many 

ars; though, they are now presently restricted to just 

e wiring business. 

You will notice that the new names for 

rstEnergy, East, West, and Penn Power is actually part of 

e Ohio East route. That is a status which has occurred 

the last month through the reorganization. ConEd is the 

ner of Pike County Light & Power through a number of 

rgers in the past few years. 

While they may have merged and they're 

nfined to the wires business, their duties and 

sponsibilities have not changed to what they had to do 

ior to Chapter 28's enactment. There is renewed focus on 

liability meeting the consumer needs of Pennsylvania. 

They will still handle local line maintenance. 

u still see their trucks out there. We regulate their 

nancials. We work with them on outage response, and we 

so work with them on economic development. We also 

ndle complaints. 

As you're well aware, our Bureau of Consumer 

rvices handles complaints associated with companies; and 

e companies must respond to the complaints that are 
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gistered with the Commission. 

Moving to the gas industry. Natural gas is 

so a major part of the Pennsylvania economy, providing 

ating for more than 2 million residents in the state, 

imarily in Western PA where saturations approach 95 

rcent of the population in many areas. 

We are a producer. We are a storage reservoir 

r much gas that flows throughout the whole northeast. We 

ve a lot of pipeline. And we have a good size industry 

mpared to many other states. As you can see, we are 5th 

revenues. 

Now, Pennsylvania as a producer meets 7 

rcent of the state's needs. The Appalachian Basin is an 

d production area and was the impetus for the industry 

self in the past. There is still drilling done in PA, 

t it is price competitive. 

In general, prices for natural gas will need 

remain above $3.50 in Mcf in order to support drilling 

Pennsylvania. PA wells are characterized as low yield 

t long life. This is the exact opposite of what is found 

en you're drilling in the Gulf. 

The Independent Oil and Gas Association based 

Greensburg, Pennsylvania can provide the committee with 

rther guidance on Pennsylvania's drilling needs, as they 

e a member organization handling many of the Pennsylvania 
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oducers. 

The producers of natural gas in general, 

ough, are familiar names, as gas is normally found 

injunctive with oil. The major oil companies are also the 

jor gas companies. However, I would point attention to 

uitable, Dominion, and NFG Supply, as they are also major 

rticipants in the Appalachian Basin, more local gas. 

They produce and gather much of the 

palachian Basin gas and move it to market in 

nnsylvania, New York, Ohio, and West Virginia. We also 

ve a number of small producers. The IOGA organization I 

ntioned is their representative. They have recently held 

eir regional meeting. 

Now, the majority of gas, natural gas that is 

oduced comes from remote regions: The central basin in 

e mid-continent area, the Gulf states. And it must be 

ved to market through the interstate pipeline system. 

itially formed as part of World War 2, it has been 

veloped where there are approximately 31 major pipelines 

at move 95 percent of the gas nationwide through all 

eas. 

In the northeast, we have a number of smaller 

pelines which provide service to the area. The most 

cent development has been bringing gas down from the 

ble Island region in Canada in the Nova Scotia area. And 
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have a major development to move gas from the Chicago 

rket region which links up to the Canadian gas in the far 

st. 

To give you an idea of the flows of where gas 

found and where it moves to market, as you can see, a 

t of it points to the northeast coming up from the Gulf 

d in from Western Canada. There is major development 

so in the southeast in recent days, which will affect the 

ount of gas made available for the Pennsylvania area. 

As a result of the flows on the system, 

ere's been establishment of market centers, hubs as 

ey're called. And they are where the pipelines 

terconnect and cross. And there usually are storage 

cilities located there. 

So you can see we have 3 of them located in 

nnsylvania, one operated by Columbia; one operated by 

G; and another one known as the Leidy Center, which sits 

top of 2 of the largest storage fields in the northeast. 

Pricing is generally based upon the Henry Hub, 

ich is the onshore point of offshore gas coming in in 

uisiana. If you'll read The Wall Street Journal, you'll 

e the price of the Henry Hub. They are listed both on 

e cash and the futures market every day. 

Gas must be held in storage, though, in order 

meet the market. Storage is critical to meeting the 
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ak seasonal demands and needs of the heating market. 

ds Fields, Special Formations, and LNG combine to provide 

flexible program of storage to meet the peaks that are 

perienced. These peaks are weather driven. 

The new advent of large natural gas generation 

11 impact the ability of the system to meet future needs. 

s which formerly was moved during the summer off-peak 

ason to fill storage requirements for the winter may be 

verted to meet that summer electric generation need. 

As you can see, storage is a big piece of 

nnsylvania. We have a lot of it. We serve the whole 

rtheast corridor with that storage. These are both 

orages which run for the whole winter season of 90 days, 

days, and down to 10-day peak-day storage capabilities. 

ey are a major component to stabilizing the system during 

e winter months. 

The interstate pipeline players are listed 

ove here in the, the slide. Because of the demands on 

e natural gas system, principally new generation, new 

urces of supply, and new pipeline development is 

itical. The major pipelines are planning to develop new 

stems for the area. 

The last one listed on the slide, the 

dependence, is planned for service in the winter of 2003. 

is designed to move gas from the Midwest to the Leidy 
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orage hub. In the Midwest, it will intersect pipelines 

signed to bring Western Canadian gas down to the states. 

This is the same system that could move gas 

om the Mackenzie Delta in the Northwest Territory or the 

WR of much debate in Alaska under various pipeline 

oposals. So you can see the system is interconnecting, 

t it will take some investment to get the gas to market. 

Our local gas distribution companies are also 

miliar names; though, many have merged and been bought in 

e last 5 years. I think some of them you probably would 

ow the name on the right but not the name on the left. 

elon obviously was an example of merging with a major 

dwest firm, but PECO Energy is still what appears on the 

11. 

Southern Union was a Missouri Gas and Texas 

rm. It bought PG Energy a number of years ago. But 

eir obligation hasn't changed. With the advent of 

apter 22, which was passed in 1999, they must still plan 

r the orderly development of their territory, though in 

njunction with markets and pools that operate on their 

stems. 

They still provide local line maintenance. 

d in addition to the financials and leak outage response, 

e Commission actually has a federal role with the gas 

mpanies. We are a federal agent for safety. We do gas 
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fety inspections of the lines and also the interstate 

pelines that operate in the state. So we have a slightly 

fferent relationship with our natural gas distribution 

mpanies than we do with our electric companies. 

Now, the 2 other major heating sources in 

nnsylvania are heating oil and propane. For information 

garding those 2 areas, you should probably contact the 

partment of Environmental Protection and their Bureau of 

vironmental Sustainability. 

They are the recipient and the holder of 

formation not only regarding those 2 fuels but also 

soline, which is at your local service stations. They 

nitor the storage in both of those and the pricing on 

ose and the available resources to move that fuel to the 

meowner or to the business. 

There is a strong interdependence between the 

ating oil, or I should say the number 2 oil, the number 6 

1, and the natural gas market. As gas is interrupted in 

e winter for major industrials, many of them move over to 

e oil market; and their oil must be trucked in. We deal 

th this a great deal during the winter on an emergency 

sis to make sure that heating oil is delivered to the 

propriate industrial sources. 

Again, the Commission thanks the committee for 

is opportunity. We're prepared to answer questions on 
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is important issue either regarding the slides or 

garding the written testimony. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you, Mr. Rosenthal. 

y questions? Representative Feese? 

REPRESENTATIVE FEESE: No. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Representative Manderino? 

REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. I'm actually trying to read through the rest of 

>ur written testimony. And what you didn't cover in your 

ides, you've covered here in terms of what happened over 

e last winter session. 

I have not yet gotten to the end. And I don't 

ow if your testimony touches at all on, from our point of 

ew as policymakers and hearing from constituents, when 

ese price fluctuations are going on. To what extent is 

.ere any, are there any measures or any, any — I don't 

iow what the right word is — any provisions in our 

gulatory scheme that would kind of give assurance to 

msumers that what they are experiencing is actual market 

uctuations versus what we kept hearing with regard to 

fair price gouging on consumers? 

What in our regulatory scheme, if anything, 

ght protect against that or — do you understand where 

m coming from? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: Yes. Even though we are in a 

JENNIFER P. McGRATH, RPR 
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oice market for a number of the natural gas customers, we 

ill do annual reviews on the purchasing practices and the 

rchasing planning of the natural gas distribution 

mpanies as a supplier of resource for their customers. 

Many contracts are linked to indices, such as 

e Henry Hub indices. And so they will fluctuate the 

ntract with the pricing that is going on in the market. 

at experience last winter had a number of factors, a 

mbination of which came out the prior winters as a matter 

fact. 

A lack of drilling for natural gas had been 

curring for a number of years to the low prices. You had 

bstantial drawdowns during the prior winter when there 

re all distribution problems. You had a lack of 

filling of storage due to competition for gas in the 

lifornia market for generation and also in the eastern 

rkets for some generation, as it was an extremely hot 

mmer. 

And then we had a very early winter, which 

fects the way you manage your storage. And that created 

resses on the system in terms of moving gas timely to the 

rket. And that combination generally caused the flare-up 

the prices. 

Now, is it price gouging? You might — at 

me point, I think Attorney General Fisher would 
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Lvestigate that. In particular, we are looking more at 

le market prices that we see every day in the market and 

ie stresses that are on there, if there did seem to be 

ressure on the system, if there were a number of 

>erational flow-out orders which restricted the flow of 

LS. 

We also had extreme cold, the coldest winters 

L November/December of any recorded. That's about the 

;st we can do in terms of assuring that the price gouging 

in't going on but understanding the factors which are 

reating the flare-up in the gas prices. 

This winter, storage is very good moving into 

Le winter. Prices have come down. We also have lower 

Ldustrial activity, which is also contributing to 

railability of the natural gas. And we're not seeing 

rices escalate at all in this regard. 

REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: If I can just ask 

ie follow-up question. In your written testimony, you 

Llk about how utility rates are adjusted on a quarterly 

Lsis. Would I be correct in assuring customers that when 

company comes in for a quarterly — I don't know what you 

L11 it — rate filing, adjustment, et cetera, that one of 

ie things that the PUC looks at in determining whether 

tat's justified or how much it's justified is the amount 

: profitability and that one of the things you look at is 
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ether or not there is excess? 

I mean, is that kind of full disclosure type 

thing that you — and are you allowed to regulate 

e — maybe this is an ignorant question — the amount of 

asonable profit to again assure consumers that there's 

t excessive opportunities being taken because of the 

rket? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: Let's start at the beginning 

der our statute, which is the 1307 section of our code. 

ere is no profit on the natural gas piece of that. The 

tual commodity and pipeline costs that the company 

periences, there's no markup of that. And that gets 

volved in the annual review and also the quarterly 

justments. 

The only profit that the companies, our 

stribution companies make is on the actual sale of 

ntal, effectively, of the distribution facilities, the 

vestment in that movement. Last — that cost itself, 

ile they will make more money in the winter because there 

more sale, they don't necessarily make more money when 

e price goes up. 

The winter had more impact on them as opposed 

just a price flare-up. In fact, it actually can lead to 

nstraint. When the people reduce, when they see the 

ice, reduce their consumption, the utility will have less 
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ofit. And the — but it's not affected by the price 

are-up in the natural gas market. 

That dollar for dollar flows through to 

oducers and in the natural gas pipelines for the movement 

the gas. 

REPRESENTATIVE MANDERINO: Thank you. Thank 

u, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Representative Maitland? 

REPRESENTATIVE MAITLAND: No. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Representative Pallone? 

REPRESENTATIVE PALLONE: No. Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Representative Gabig? 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. I guess it was last spring there were a lot of 

mplaints from the floor of the House that if prices of, 

this case, gas go up 50 percent, there should be an 

tomatic criminal investigation into, into such an 

currence. The logic behind that was very fuzzy to me 

so. 

But if I understand, reading primarily your 

itten testimony that Representative Manderino was 

ferring to, it looked like prices went up last winter 60, 

percent from the previous winter. But if I'm 

derstanding it, it sounds like a very highly regulated 

dustry, that pricing — and PUC has a lot to do with the 
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tting of, of the price. Am I following — is that right? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: The actual — 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: When you talk about 

ice gouging, would it be the PUC that's gouging or would 

be some private industry? Who is the source of this 

ice gouging when we're talking about prices going up 60 

70 percent? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: Well, I don't think it's the 

C. The wellhead pricing has been decontrolled since 

78. And what you see when you read the Journal or you 

nitor the market is essentially the day-to-day trading of 

at natural gas in the market among the large gas 

mpanies and consumers or marketers. 

And what you might have as a case could be the 

ltiple hands that the gas passes through which generates 

e escalating price or simply the timing in the market of 

en people need gas and the availability and the ability 

get that gas to the necessary market. We notice that 

e gas will flow to price. 

To give you an example, in the Chicago market, 

ere are higher penalties for nondelivery than there are 

the Pennsylvania market. So that in order to avoid 

nalties, the companies that operate in that area are 

lling to pay a higher price for the natural gas in order 

avoid the $50 penalty that might come under the gas if 
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ey are short in their delivery. 

That affects our market because when you're 

tting down in Louisiana, you just turn the valve; and it 

n go to Chicago or it can go to Pennsylvania. And you 

11 get that effect in the market overall nationwide. The 

vement of gas on the interstate pipeline is regulated, 

t the base cost of gas itself is not a regulated item. 

So it is a function of how much storage is put 

there and what is the current flow on the system as well 

what are the current productive levels of the wells. If 

u don't have the wells there that have been drilled to 

et the market, those that are already operating will have 

little bit of market power in that area. And that will 

investigated at the federal level in general. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: Just a follow-up to 

at, if I might, Mr. Chairman. So do you think with all 

ese market forces and drilling — and you didn't even hit 

the environmental part of it — to drive up costs for 

eaner gas, simply if you read some arbitrary number of a 

ice, do you think that's an indication in and of itself 

some kind of criminal intent to price gouging based on 

ur experience? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: No. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. No other questions. 
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CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you, Representative 

big. Representative Hennessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Mr. Rosenthal, with regard to your testimony, 

u indicated that storage refill during the summer of 2000 

ating into last winter, that during the summer, refill 

s slowed down in the hopes that eventually we'd see lower 

ices. The lower prices didn't come. 

And then as we entered the winter, it says in 

ur testimony, you indicated we were below the historic 

vels of storage. Is there a required percentage or 

tount, volume of storage capacity that we require of any 

tural gas company so that — I understand the idea of 

t's wait, with the idea that things would be cheaper. 

But if they don't get cheaper and we enter a 

ry cold winter with extremely low storage capacity, we've 

ally shot ourselves twice in the foot. And should there 

a required level of storage if there's not one now? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: It is not within the 

nnsylvania PUC jurisdiction that that would occur. The 

intenance and filling of storage fields are pretty much 

engineering decision as to minimum levels and maximum 

vels. 

But anything in between, I'm not aware of any 

gulatory approvals — and if there are, they would be at 
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e federal level — for how much fill they put into those 

orage fields. That's — there's some criteria on an 

xjineering basis. But to go from 75 to 100 percent levels 

• probably not a regulated item at this point. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: But did we enter 

ie winter, or last winter with 75 percent storage 

.pacity, do you know? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: In various portions of the 

igion, the production area was below that. The western 

igion was below that. The eastern region was above that. 

.sed nationally, we were about 7 0 percent. This year 

i're entering it in excess of 90 percent. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: So that to some 

:tent, the crisis, the pricing crisis that we saw last 

.nter in a sense was triggered by someone waiting around, 

•me corporate decision waiting around to see if prices 

iuld drop and when they didn't drop, everybody paid the 

ice for that mistake made at some corporate level 

imewhere? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: Yes. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Representative Petrarca? 

REPRESENTATIVE PETRARCA: No questions. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: One of the charts here, a 

•uple of the charts you showed with respect to electric 
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neration, apparently natural gas or gasses are a very, 

ry small percentage of that. And with respect to 

ating, I think you said the principal sources of heating 

e heating oil and propane and that gas is a very small 

rcentage of the heating. 

MR. ROSENTHAL: No. For home heating, natural 

s is a very large percentage. In the western part of the 

ate, about 95 percent. In the eastern portion, it's 

out 35 percent, depending on where you are. It may be a 

ttle bit higher, say, inside the City of Philadelphia but 

ss in the suburban area. 

Heating oil actually is a major component in 

e eastern portion of the state for its home heating. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Okay. Thank you. I 

ticed on the map that Pennsylvania is a very large 

orage area. So — but it's probably far from the source, 

st of it coming from the, I guess the southwest. 

MR. ROSENTHAL: Uh-huh. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: But how — when that gas 

stored there, how do price fluctuations at the source 

feet the price from the storage area to the consumer? 

es that remain constant or what it was at the time that 

e gas was put into storage? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: There are some additions by 

e storage operator for when gas is withdrawn from the 
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orage. There are charges. They are not substantial in 

garding the pricing of the gas; but there are, there are 

me additional margins there. 

Also, there are certain conditions as to the 

ming that gas can be withdrawn from certain storage areas 

order to maintain that storage field in its maximum 

erating condition. So it's a question of — the storage 

self functions as a peak response to the weather 

nditions that are being experienced in the market. 

And so it may be placed in — the goal is 

ways to place it in at a low pricing time, let it be 

ored. And then when it comes back out, it balances the 

ice with what might be a higher price for flowing gas at 

e time. 

So the company manages a portfolio of source 

th the storage and with its flowing gas in order to meet 

e needs and overall provide both a reliable and 

st-effective management of the supply to the customer. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Would it be fair to say 

en what the storage company is doing is trying to strike 

balance between what the gas that *s in storage costs and 

at the gas that's coming through the pipeline now costs 

put into storage? 

MR. ROSENTHAL: Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you. Any other 
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estions from any of the committee members? (No 

sponse.) Thank you very much, Mr. Rosenthal, for being 

th us and sharing this information today. Appreciate it 

ry much. 

MR. ROSENTHAL: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: I believe our next 

tness is Mr. Douglas Biden with Electric Power 

neration. Welcome, Mr. Biden. You may begin when you're 

ady. 

MR. BIDEN: Thank you. Good morning. 

airman Gannon and distinguished members of the Judiciary 

mmittee, my name is Doug Biden. And I am the President 

the Electric Power Generation Association. EPGA is a 

gional trade association of electric generating companies 

th headquarters here in Harrisburg. 

Our member companies include Allegheny Energy 

pply, Exelon Generation, FirstEnergy Generation, Midwest 

neration, Orion Power Midwest, PPL Generation, and 

liant Energy. These companies own and operate more than 

8,000 megawatts of electric generating capacity in the 

ited States. 

Approximately half of this capacity is located 

the Mid-Atlantic region, one-third of it in 

nnsylvania. In addition, EPGA members have another 7,000 

gawatts of generating capacity in various stages of 
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anning and development in the Commonwealth and 

rrounding states. 

At the outset, EPGA would like to express its 

ncere appreciation to Chairman Gannon and this entire 

mmittee for conducting this investigation into the 

ctors that affect energy prices. We believe it is 

portant that our policymakers, especially our elected 

ficials, understand how deregulated energy markets work. 

d we hope our comments today help contribute to that 

derstanding. 

Unfortunately, California has, in the minds of 

ny, given deregulation a bad name. So we welcome the 

portunity to appear before you today to explain the 

ctors that determine electricity prices and to express 

r views that energy markets can and do work. 

First, some basics. EPGA's members generate 

ectricity and sell into the deregulated wholesale power 

rket. One such market is conducted by the PJM 

dependent System Operator, or ISO, which currently 

eludes most of Pennsylvania and, when the PJM expansion 

to Western Pennsylvania is complete, will include all of 

e Commonwealth except the Pennsylvania Power utility 

rvice territory in and around New Castle, Pennsylvania. 

The Penn Power system is expected to remain 

rt of the Alliance Regional Transmission Organization, or 
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'O, a large wholesale market just now being formed which 

11 stretch from Western Pennsylvania through Illinois. 

r wholesale customers are electric utilities, now often 

ferred to as distribution companies; retail electricity 

.rketers; load aggregators; and municipal electric 

stems. 

EPGA's members are not utilities and are not 

igulated by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission. 

.r ability to sell power in the wholesale market at 

.rket-based rates is determined and controlled by the 

ideral Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC. 

As with other commodities, wholesale 

ectricity prices are a function of costs as well as the 

nces of supply and demand. Different power plants can 

.ve widely varying production costs, and their output is 

merally priced accordingly. 

For plants that burn coal, oil, and natural 

.s, costs are dominated by fuel costs and, secondarily, by 

ivironmental compliance costs. For nuclear and renewable 

lergy plants, such as wind, hydro, and the like, capital 

tvestment plays a larger role in determining costs. 

Depending on relative production costs, 

innsylvania gets about 57 to 59 percent of its electric 

neration from coal-fired plants, 33 to 35 percent from 

clear facilities, and the remainder from natural gas, 
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1, and renewable energy plants. 

The increase in wholesale electricity prices 

at occurred in our region last year can be attributed, 

r the most part, to the increase in natural gas prices. 

en though gas currently accounts for a relatively small 

rcentage of electric generation in Pennsylvania and PJM, 

e more than threefold increase in gas prices that 

curred last year had the effect of pulling up regional 

ot market coal prices. And of course, we are 

nsiderably dependent on coal. 

Production costs are an important factor in 

termining wholesale power costs. So are supply and 

mand. Spot market prices; that is, prices quoted at the 

me of day of purchase, can and do vary widely depending 

supply and demand. 

Prices at 3:00 a.m. on a mild October night 

en demand is very low can be less than $10 per 

gawatt-hour. That's roughly equivalent to one cent per 

lowatt-hour. That is equivalent to one cent per 

lowatt-hour. 

On the other hand, prices at 3:00 p.m. on a 

t summer afternoon can often reach hundreds of dollars 

r megawatt-hour, thousands of dollars per megawatt-hour 

. some markets, as demand presses up against available 

pply. This variability in prices is called volatility, 
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d it is characteristic of wholesale electricity spot 

rkets. 

In stark contrast to California, where 

ilities were effectively prohibited from entering into 

wer supply contracts, Pennsylvania and surrounding states 

t no restrictions on their utilities' ability to reduce 

eir exposure to wholesale price volatility through 

ing-term bilateral contracts. 

As an example of proficient use of that 

dlity, only 15 to 18 percent of PJM Energy is purchased 

rough the volatile spot market. That means 82 to 85 

ircent of the energy is transacted through long-term 

freements between consenting parties based on their 

owledge and expectations of wholesale market conditions. 

Average wholesale electricity prices are 

rrently dropping, are below last year's levels, and are 

:pected to remain lower than last year through, at least 

trough the winter of 2001/2002. This is due to lower 

iwer plant fuel prices, new power plants coming on line, 

id lower aggregate demand due to depressed economic 

mditions. If the weather continues to be milder than 

.st year, wholesale prices will be further dampened. 

Looking to the longer term, there are a number 

: developments that will or could restrict electric 

meration output in our region and increase wholesale 
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ices. First, transmission constraints. Mr. Rosenthal 

luded to this in his testimony. 

The deregulation of the wholesale power 

rket, pursuant to the Energy Policy Act of 1992, has 

livered an increase in generating capacity and a 

gnificant improvement in power plant efficiency and 

ailability. It has also led to a pronounced increase in 

e volume of wholesale power transactions. 

Unfortunately, the investment in electric 

ansmission capacity has not kept pace with the increase 

wholesale sales. The result is congestion problems on 

e grid, which increasingly prevent electricity demand 

om being met by the lowest cost power plants. Increasing 

ngestion, other things being equal, will increase 

olesale power prices. 

Fuel prices: Most of the generating capacity 

rrently planned or under construction both nationally and 

gionally will utilize natural gas as its primary fuel. 

ere is some debate right now about the underlying 

equacy of gas resources to meet the higher demand from 

e power sector. 

Certainly, gas producers responded to higher 

ices last year by stepping up their drilling and 

ploration activities. Supply expanded, as it should; and 

ices fell. Whether these lower prices will hold in the 
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.ce of a projected 50-plus percent increase in gas demand 

om the power sector over the next few years remains to be 

ien. 

Although gas presently accounts for a 

ilatively small percentage of electric generation in our 

tgion, its use is expected to grow rapidly. And gas-fired 

ants will set what's called the market clearing price in 

ie wholesale spot market over an increasing number of 

iurs. So wholesale electric price volatility will, to an 

icreasing degree, be dependent on natural gas price 

ilatility. 

The failure of the federal government to 

idress the nuclear waste disposal issue could adversely 

ifect the relicensing and operating costs of nuclear 

snerating facilities. The slow and uncertain relicensing 

: hydroelectric facilities by the Federal Energy 

sgulatory Commission and some of the conditions being 

tmanded by state agencies and interveners in that process 

»uld threaten the viability of those facilities. 

Pennsylvania's and the United States 

ivironmental Protection Agency's new regulations governing 

.trogen oxide emissions, or NOx. Pennsylvania generators 

Lve already reduced their NOx emissions by 55 to 65 

srcent from 1990 levels. 

Achieving an additional 15 to 25 percent 
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duction by 2003 will require units to be taken out of 

rvice for installation of pollution control equipment and 

11 add hundreds of millions of dollars to the cost of 

oduction. Increased variable costs will be reflected in 

olesale price bids. 

Whether generating plants will be able to 

cover their fixed capital costs will, as in any market, 

pend on the forces of supply and demand. If a generator 

kes the judgment that it cannot recover its capital 

vestment in emission control equipment, it may decide to 

tire some of its plants. Either way, in a region 

pendent on coal as a power plant fuel, as we are, 

mplying with the NOx regulations will create upward 

essure on wholesale prices. 

EPA's New Source Review Initiative could 

quire older coal-fired plants to shut down or be 

trofitted with the same emission control equipment as 

and new plants. 

Other environmental initiatives that could 

feet electricity prices include EPA's proposed 

rticulate and ground-level ozone standards — those are 

ing tightened now — regulations requiring mercury 

ission reductions at fossil-fueled power plants, the 

gional Haze Rule, regulations on cooling water intake, 

d regulations governing what are called total maximum 
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ily loads to surface waters. 

Also, Pennsylvania's proposed water resources 

gislation could make it more difficult and expensive for 

wer plants to obtain the substantial volumes of water 

ey need for cooling. 

We're not here today to try to prepare the 

blic for a massive run-up in wholesale power prices. 

ter all, supply and demand factors as well as the 

troduction of new technologies in the deregulated market 

11 at least partially determine whether increased power 

ant costs are borne by electricity customers or investors 

i generation. 

We mention these developments only to point 

t that the efficiencies and cost savings we have realized 

om electric restructuring can be overwhelmed by other 

velopments and to caution that we should not let 

rselves be trapped, as they apparently were in 

.lifornia, by the belief that electric restructuring means 

.at prices can only go down or that they should only stay 

>wn. 

The appeal of electric competition is that 

ices will be set at levels that are beneficial to both 

msumers and producers. And the benefit will be greater 

i both than what occurred under regulation, provided the 

rket is allowed to work without unnecessary interference 
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manipulation by any participant. 

Thank you for your kind attention. I'll be 

ppy to answer any questions that you may have. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you, Mr. Biden. 

presentative Gabig. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Sir, referring to page 5 of your written 

stimony or what I have as page 5 of your written 

stimony, in paragraph 2 regarding fuel prices, you talk 

out the increase, projected 50 percent increase in gas 

mand from the power sector. What do you mean by power 

ctor? 

MR. BIDEN: Electric power generation sector. 

at is the — of all the megawatts currently under 

nstruction regionally and nationally, I think in that 

gion, over 90 percent of that capacity is scheduled to 

e natural gas as a power plant fuel. And nationally, I 

ink the percentage is even higher than that. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: So the new power plants 

at are coming on line are gas-fired power plants versus 

al-fired or nuclear power plants; is that right? 

MR. BIDEN: Right. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: And if we're, if we're 

eating new power plants, as we are in Pennsylvania, 

ilding new power plants unlike, say, California, which 
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ybe wasn't building enough power plants out there, should 

be able to meet the increased demand for — 

MR. BIDEN: The increased demand for 

ectricity, yes. The question that I alluded to in my 

stimony was whether or not the gas industry can meet the 

creased demand for gas from the electric power sector. A 

percent increase from the electric power sector over the 

xt 2 or 3 years, which is what's expected — and that's a 

irly conservative estimate — is a tremendous increase in 

mand for natural gas. 

Now, against that, industrial demand for gas 

s fallen off because of depressed economic conditions. 

t we are, for the most part, still moving ahead with 

ans to build natural gas-fired power plants. A lot of 

mes, gas is referred to as the fuel of choice for power 

neration. 

I tend to call it the fuel of regulatory 

cessity. With all of the environmental initiatives 

cing us, it's very difficult to get financing for a new 

ial-fired power plant. If you, if you, if you finance a 

w gas-fired plant, at least you know you're going to be 

ile to run it from an environmental control perspective. 

Whether or not you're going to be able to 

tch the price in the wholesale market for the output of 

at plant if gas prices run up tremendously is another 
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sue. And that's a risk that the investor has to take. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: And the second thing 

at you mentioned was the long-term contracts that we were 

le to have here in Pennsylvania in terms of electric. 

d that was the differentiation you made between 

lifornia's. They were unable to do that; is that right? 

MR. BIDEN: Well, there's some debate. If you 

k the California Public Utility Commission, they will say 

at they did not prevent their utilities from doing that. 

wever, they made it clear that they would not be able to 

cover costs from ratepayers if the costs of those 

ntracts exceeded the spot market price. 

So that the choice to the utility then was to 

y from the spot market price because the PUC had made the 

dgment that that was de facto reasonable. And that's why 

ey bought all their power from the spot market. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: Well, not to focus on 

lifornia but to keep it in Pennsylvania's perspective, 

d you say about 85 percent of the electricity was covered 

der long-term contracts here which would even out the 

ice versus being on this volatile spot market; is that 

ght? 

MR. BIDEN: Right, right. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: Just, Mr. Chairman, if 

could, just as a personal interest, you mentioned on the 
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xt page the relicensing of hydroelectric facilities, the 

oblem with that. Is that a problem in Pennsylvania? 

MR. BIDEN: It is, it is to a certain extent. 

i're not terribly dependent on hydro. We get about 2 

ircent of our generation from hydro. But those hydro 

.cilities are very important when we have periods of high 

tak demand. 

We need that output then because — obviously, 

.1 the power plants are needed then. And there are a lot 

1 intervenors. I mean, people who fish — I like to 

sh. I don't particularly like the water being impeded by 

droelectric plants, but the plants are there. 

And I don't think it makes sense, since the 

ants have been there for decades, to have to tear them 

>wn or have to convert them to a run-of-river facility to 

istore fishes to an area that haven't been there for 

scades. It's just a difference of opinion. 

But those are the kinds of issues that we get 

ivolved in in the hydro relicensing — 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: But is it a 

mnsylvania, say, DEP or is it an EPA, is it federal, 

iese intervenors that you're talking about? Is it more 

, is that a federal issue? 

MR. BIDEN: It is a federal issue. But the 

IRC defers to the state agency that has responsibility for 
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forcing the Clean Water Act. So in this case, they defer 

DEP. DEP then brings in the Fish Commission and all of 

e other intervenors. 

You know, groups like Trout Unlimited, they're 

t particularly fond of hydroelectric facilities. And 

ey get very active, and so do other community groups. So 

's something that we need to deal with. But it does not 

feet a tremendous volume of our generating capacity. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: Thank you, Mr. Biden. 

d thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you. 

presentative Hennessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Mr. Biden, also on page 5 of your testimony, you 

dicated problems with the transmission capacity. Who 

ntrols whose electricity is being transmitted over the 

ansmission lines at any particular time? 

MR. BIDEN: Who controls that? 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Yeah. 

MR. BIDEN: Well, with the exception — 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: I mean, you're 

ying that, you know, congestion on the transmission grid 

events electricity demand from being met by the lowest 

>st power plants. So somebody's making the determination 

we can't buy from the lower cost producers, you know, we 
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ve to buy at a higher cost. 

Is that controlled by — who owns the 

ansmission lines? There are certain companies that own 

ose, I guess. 

MR. BIDEN: Right, the transmission owners. 

e utilities own the transmission lines. PJM operates 

em. And I'm sure Cindy Taylor will give you some details 

that and probably answer those questions related to 

ansmission better than I can. 

But the general problem is, particularly 

thin PJM, most of the lower cost generation is in the 

stern part of PJM. Most of the higher cost generation is 

. the eastern part of PJM. So you get this dominant west 

i flow east, or west to east flow of power. 

And what happens is the transmission lines 

come overloaded. So it makes it necessary for you to 

ke, to dispatch power plants not on an economic basis but 

u have to leave the economic dispatch order and bring 

gher cost power plants on at the other side of that 

ingestion constraint to increase the flow back against it. 

That's it in a nutshell from a non-engineer. 

t that's basically the problem. The lines get overloaded 

ving predominantly west to east. That's the predominant 

rection of the congestion in PJM. Am I not explaining 

at to you satisfactorily? 
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REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Well, I understand 

at. But I'm not an engineer. I'm not going to pretend 

i understand. 

MR. BIDEN: I'm not either. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Who sets the 

iority? Does the utility company who owns the particular 

ansmission line determine that it's going to transmit 

wer that's costing $20 a kilowatt-hour as opposed to $15 

kilowatt-hour that's equally available? 

MR. BIDEN: PJM would determine that. If we 

,ve to go out of economic merit order, PJM would then 

mtact generators at the other end of the transmission 

mstraint and try to find the lowest cost producer of 

lose already higher cost producers to relieve this 

ingestion constraint. 

And they have procedures in order for 

mtacting them instantaneously when these problems arise. 

id those, those plants, those plants — let's say you bid 

ito the market at $60 a megawatt-hour and you would not 

ive been expected to have your bid accepted. 

But there's this transmission constraint that 

Lkes it impossible for the lower cost producers in the 

istern part of PJM to meet load in the east where most of 

ie load is. Now you're going to take that plant's bid, 

tat $60 bid to get them to generate to help relieve the 
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ansmission constraint. 

To explain it beyond that would get into 

ysics. And I took baby physics in college. So — 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: But it sounds like, 

the extent that we can in the eastern part of 

nnsylvania, we are being provided with the least 

pensive. And it's only when transmission problems create 

backlog or a backlog effect movement of that electricity 

at we then purchase the higher price. 

I was concerned because you said transmission 

ngestion prevents electricity from being met by the 

west cost power plants. It sounds to me like what you're 

ying now is most of the time, it is being met by the 

west cost and it's only in times of peak congestion that 

then turn to the higher cost suppliers and bring their 

wer on line. 

MR. BIDEN: Correct. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. Thank you. 

MR. BIDEN: Correct. It's only in times of 

ngestion, only during times of congestion. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you. This 

ngestion issue, you know, my concept of congestion is too 

ch is in the system. It's going in on one end and not 

ing out of the other end fast enough. Is that what 

ppens with electricity? Or is it when the demand goes 
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, there's so much energy going through the system, you 

ow, it's coming out and going out at the same speed; it's 

st the volume is going up so much? 

MR. BIDEN: That's correct. That's correct. 

d as a result of the Energy Policy Act of 1992, the 

lume of wholesale transactions has gone up tremendously. 

d the transmission system was originally built to meet 

e local utilities' native load demand. 

And then they have interconnecting ties 

tween these systems. But it was never designed for this 

pe of a market. So we really need to beef up the 

vestment in that transmission system. 

Now, we all hope that with this movement to 

rger regional transmission organizations, like the FERC 

trying to do now, that once we do that, the uncertainty 

to who is going to control the wires, who's going, who 

d how are they going to be compensated for investing of 

ose wires, that that uncertainty will be alleviated and 

e types of investments that we need in transmission will 

made. 

If that — however, I mean, I must point out, 

neration is a substitute for transmission. So if we 

n't do that, I think you'll see these new technologies 

ke distributed generation be deployed much more rapidly. 

d they in themselves can help relieve some of that 
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ngestion by placing that distributed generation source at 

e opposite end of those transmission constraints. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: So it's my 

derstanding — is this true? — that the transmission 

hides, the lines, they're owned by a separate company 

an the generating. 

MR. BIDEN: The wires are still owned by the 

ilities. Even in PJM, the transmission and distribution 

res are still owned by the utilities that are regulated 

the Public Utility Commission; however, PJM has control 

those. They have seeded control of those wires, to a 

rtain extent, to PJM. 

If they need to take a transmission line down 

r service, they must okay that with PJM. They just can't 

i that unilaterally because we need to know what the 

rket impacts of that are. So PJM has a controlling 

nction, but they don't actually own the wires. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Is there any 

ogram — we see there's a program to go into more 

nerating capacity with natural gas. Is there also — on 

e other side, is there any program to increase the lines 

i that we can get a better handle on the congestion, so to 

eak? 

MR. BIDEN: PJM has a transmission capacity 

pansion plan to connect — I don't remember the precise 
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mber of megawatts. I think they have in the pipeline 

mething like 25,000 megawatts of generating capacity. I 

ink between 6- and 7,000 megawatts of that are under 

nstruction right now. 

So we have a plan in place to connect that 

nerating capacity to the grid. And I am assuming that 

rt of that transmission expansion plan is to relieve the 

ngestion, the added congestion that will come as a result 

those plants coming on line. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: I've been reading in the 

pers, in the media that California is now faced with 

other crisis which is a flip side of what they had in the 

mmer, that they will have a surplus of energy but that 

ey paid a high price for that. 

And one of the arguments, or the reasons that 

ve seen for this situation is that energy can't be 

ored. So do you have a — what's actually going on 

ere, do you know? Can you give us a brief explanation of 

y they're in the predicament that they are? 

And the next question is whether Pennsylvania 

n get into that type of situation. 

MR. BIDEN: Well, the fact that I alluded to 

rlier, that most of the power is transacted through PJM 

a long-term agreements. And that was absent from the 

lifornia market. To a very great degree, they were 

JENNIFER P. McGRATH, RPR 
(570) 622-6850 

mallen
Rectangle



49 

avily dependent on the volatile spot market. 

And what happened when that market went short 

capacity, prices went through the roof. A lot of people 

edicted it. A lot of people told, you know, the 

lifornia government in various hearings that this was 

ing to happen sooner or later. 

When it did happen, those low energy 

ices — the market worked very well. It produced very 

w, reasonably priced electricity in California for 2 

ars. And then the shortage happened, and then prices 

nt through the roof. 

What happened then was California realized 

eir error in not allowing their utilities and not 

couraging their utilities to enter into long-term 

ntracts. So they went gangbusters in the long-term 

ntracts. When? When these prices were extremely high. 

And because current prices were extremely 

gh, the expectation about future prices was extremely 

gh. California bought a heck of a lot of power at very, 

ry high contract prices as a result. And now with all 

e conservation efforts that have taken place in 

lifornia, there's some concern as to whether or not they 

ught too much at too high a price. Does that explain it? 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Yeah. That"s what I 

ought had occurred. Is there any way — can — would 
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mething like that — could something like that happen in 

nnsylvania where we would find ourselves paying a really 

gh price for electricity that was being produced at a 

ry low price simply because of these contractual 

rangements? 

MR. BIDEN: Well, in addition to the fact that 

i depend more on long-term agreements, long-term bilateral 

ntracts by consenting parties limits the, the impact of 

e spot market volatility on the eventual average 

olesale price. 

But beyond that, PJM employs something called 

capacity market, which sends a long-term price signal to 

nerators that more capacity is necessary before a 

ortage develops. They have a requirement within PJM that 

generating capacity reserves falls below a certain 

vel — and I believe it's 19 percent in PJM — if it 

lis below that level, the load-serving entities have 

i — if you serve 100 megawatts of load, you're required 

i have either 119 megawatts of generating capacity or have 

pacity credits that you've bought from a capacity owner 

i back up those sales. 

So if the reserves fall below 19 percent, the 

ice signals are sent to generators before a real bad 

ortage develops. And that is the superior construct in 

e PJM market that they did not have in California. They 
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d no long-term price signal to send to generators. 

So generators had to get all of their 

venues, they had to cover their variable costs and their 

xed capital costs only from the energy market. So they 

d to raise prices to the extent that they did to satisfy 

eir investors. And that's an important distinction 

tween the 2 markets. 

And now in California, the independent system 

erator is actually looking into developing some sort of a 

pacity market to try to head this off in the future. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: It's my understanding 

at at the height of their crisis, the California capacity 

s like 2 or 3 percent. There was just very — 

MR. BIDEN: It dropped down. And they 

tually set emergency procedures into effect. If it drops 

wn below 6 percent, they start to send out the messages. 

d I forget at what point they start to curtail load. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Did the Pennsylvania 

nerating companies, do they have, can they sell on the 

ot market in addition to their, their long term? 

MR. BIDEN: Right. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: In other words, could a 

nnsylvania company on the spot market sell to California? 

that a capability? 

MR. BIDEN: Not really. Theoretically, yes. 
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t practically, no. It's just too far away. You'd have 

incur too many transmission markups on the way. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: I heard a story during 

e California situation that there was a plant in Texas 

at could only generate power a few days a year and if it 

nerated beyond that few days, they had to pay a severe 

nalty and that the California people got into agreement 

at they would generate over those days because 

ectricity — and that customers of California end up 

ying this penalty for this generation. 

Is that — I mean, I heard that and read about 

Do you know anything about that? And could that 

ppen in Pennsylvania? 

MR. BIDEN: That there was a plant in Texas 

at could only run a few days a year? 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Because of — you call 

em intervenors. I call them environmental, 

vironmentalists. 

MR. BIDEN: Well, I'm not sure where, where 

xas is as with their environmental regulations. But if 

u operate, say, a coal or oil-fired power plant, you 

ve, or natural gas-fired power plants, you have your 

issions capped. 

You have a physical cap that you cannot exceed 

less you buy emission allowances, what are called 
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lission allowances from others who have overcontrolled 

eir emissions. And that was one of the things that led 

> the tremendous run-up in prices in California. 

They — because they had to operate these 

der, inefficient units over a number of hours that they 

ver expected, they ran out of these emission allowances. 

d allowances that in our market seldom get over $2,000 a 

n went over $80,000 a ton in California, which meant they 

rtually were not obtainable anywhere. 

So what happened was the power plants had to 

shut down because they couldn *t comply with their 

vironmental permits. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Well, I mean, could they 

ntinue operating and just pay that $80,000? 

MR. BIDEN: Some did. AES did. They got a 

al public relations black eye out of it. And they got a 

ssive, tens of millions of dollars in fines from the 

lifornia Department of Environmental Protection, or 

atever it's called. I'm not sure. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: And would those costs 

ve been passed on to their customers? 

MR. BIDEN: No, not in the deregulated market. 

ly to the extent that they can fetch the price in the 

olesale market that would cover that fine. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: So California's demanding 
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ergy from a supplier. And because of the extreme demand, 

e supplier has to produce electricity and violates this 

p on emissions to provide the electricity that California 

demanding. And then California turns around and fines 

e supplier millions of dollars because of that? 

MR. BIDEN: That's exactly what happened. 

w, they did then, after the fact, realize the error of 

eir way. And they started to relieve some of those 

vironmental constraints. But that was only a temporary 

asure. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: And that situation would 

ve been brought about by these interveners getting into 

e act? 

MR. BIDEN: Yeah. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you. 

MR. BIDEN: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Our next witness is 

nthia Taylor, Manager of Customer Relations and Training, 

M Interconnection. Thank you, Ms. Taylor. You may begin 

en you're ready. 

MS. TAYLOR: Thank you. Good morning. My 

me is Cynthia Taylor. I'm, as you said, Manager of 

stomer Relations and Training. But I actually am an 

gineer. There was some discussion about engineers 

rlier. I've been at PJM for over 20 years. I've been 
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ivolved in operation settlements and information systems. 

I appreciate the invitation to participate in 

.e hearing and would like to thank you for the opportunity 

i speak with you today. PJM began operations as a power 

•ol 70 years ago. It transitioned to an independent 

stem operator in 1998. 

And currently, we have the status of a 

ovisional regional transmission organization, or RTO. 

i1re operating the world's largest competitive wholesale 

ectricity market and one of North America's largest power 

ids. We currently coordinate a pooled generating 

.pacity of more than 59,000 megawatts. 

And we operate a wholesale electricity market 

th more than 200 market buyers, sellers, and traders of 

ectricity. The customer load being served encompasses 

irtions of 5 states and the District of Columbia. But 

lergy has been brought to the region from as far as 

orida, Canada, and the Midwest. 

PJM's mission is to maintain the safety, 

lequacy, reliability, and security of the power system and 

i create and operate robust, competitive, and 

mdiscriminatory electric power markets. PJM's mission 

.pports the goals the Pennsylvania General Assembly set 

irth to benefit consumers. 

Our operations have been providing a reliable 
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iurce of power, providing the ability for consumers to 

;oose their suppliers and make consumption decisions, and 

.cilitating competitive prices for electricity. These are 

ie focus of the hearing today. And I would like briefly 

> outline processes in place currently and future trends 

iat can help support a fair price for energy in the 

ture. 

One of the simplest ways to boil down what PJM 

»es and what it can help consumers and how we can affect 

•ices is what we've seen in this region is that thriving, 

•mpetitive wholesale electricity markets support all of 

Lese benefits that we're trying to achieve for consumers. 

What I'd like to do is refer to the 

xachments. I unfortunately do not have them 

.ectronically. And I can assure you the PJM systems 

mction much better than my personal laptop does. So if 

»u could refer to the attachments. I believe you have 

»lor copies of them. 

I'd like to describe a little bit about PJM's 

tie and the function and follow on some of the testimony 

iat you heard earlier. Beginning with Attachment A, you 

srtainly can see from the diagram something very similar 

» what Mr. Rosenthal had presented where generally there's 

lel-supplying generators which are transmitting the power 

rer the bulk power transmission system, the large tower 
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nes that you see. 

Generally, that will then connect to some sort 

transformer which will lower the voltage of the lines 

d eventually will end up in homes and industries across 

e state. PJM's role — and PJM, first of all, does not 

n any of those facilities. 

PJM — the owners of the transmission system 

nerally still the utilities or former utilities, 

rtically integrated utilities. Generation now owned by 

ny different parties. In some cases, the utilities 

emselves. The distribution system still the provision of 

e utilities, which you're all familiar with. 

PJM has basically operated the system, as you 

id, for 70 years, very differently than what you saw in 

lifornia and other parts of the country. We've already 

d a regional motto in place for the sharing of energy 

ring emergency and during economic conditions. 

We also have the technology infrastructure and 

mmunications in place. So as PJM transitioned to this 

w world of deregulation, there was 70 years of history in 

ace already and the technology and business 

frastructure for that to occur. 

In very, very simple form, what we're doing 

ery day is we're getting the bids from all of the 

nerators, many, many transactions that are brought to our 
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rder from our members. We're using a standard scientific 

gorithm to select basically the lowest total production 

liars cost equipment to serve the projected load for the 

ming day. 

As we make those decisions, we'll inform those 

rticular resources or transactions that we have selected 

em. And we'll basically then schedule those resources to 

on line to meet the load in the coming day. As we move 

to the operational day, anything can happen. And we 

spare and plan for, statistically, the probable events 

at will occur every day, like loss of equipment or heavy 

e of transmission lines. 

As we move into the day, all the generators 

erate as we requested. We certainly have communications 

th them. And if there are any changes, if the weather 

es not turn out to be the way we expected, the customer 

age patterns will most likely be very different. 

We might lose a generator. There might be a 

oblem on a transmission line. Whatever happens, our 

erators will adjust to that second by second. We always 

sure that there's enough reserves on the system to 

epare for the statistic problems that we see on the 

stem. 

So as we move through the day, we'll actually 

cord that. That will be a financial settlement. So 
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ery day, that process is going on, whether it's normal 

onomics or normal emergency procedures. So as I said, 

so what you heard earlier, too, questions about where we 

t into the rest of the country, if you look in the upper 

ft-hand corner of Attachment A, you'll see a model of the 

tire nation. 

There are actually 3 physical 

terconnections. And by that, we mean that all of the 

tities in those areas are connected to each other and 

ergy flows across power lines continuously. It also 

ans that there are some very, it's very difficult to move 

ergy between those areas. 

PJM Pennsylvania is located in the eastern 

terconnection, contains the area from Florida up into 

nada into the Rockies. There are really no commercial 

es to move energy across the Rockies. California is part 

the western system, considered isolated from the eastern 

stem. 

And the state of Texas is isolated from both 

stems. These 3 systems operate independent of each 

her. But within each system, there is very, very close 

ordination between all the parties. 

Moving on to Attachment B, a little bit about 

M. As we had talked about giving you some numbers and 

ze, PJM, as I said, one of the largest in the nation 
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ght now for the electric grid. Some are about 60,000 

gawatts. 

As of January 2002, we will be moving towards 

at's called the PJM West concept where Allegheny Power 

stem will become part of PJM with the market, one market 

ivering both systems, with one transmission tariff 

ivering both systems, and with coordinated operations 

tween the 2. 

The 2 systems together will then have a 

pacity of over 66,000 megawatts. Again, one of the 

rgest and approaching one of the largest in the world 

ght now. 

Moving on to Attachment C to tell you a little 

t more about the markets and how they support 

liability. As we had talked about and was mentioned 

rlier, electricity is really a second-by-second 

mmodity. No one can tell also when someone might turn on 

light switch and when a generator might be lost. 

So someone has to be continually maintaining 

,e balance between the resources that are actually 

erating and between the load or the demand that customers 

e. PJM is the entity that's doing that. And as we 

Iked about, it had been going on for 70 years. 

What's different now is that there are markets 

r many of those services, and the markets allow bidders 
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' make offers and allow buyers to make offers to buy. And 

those markets clear, all of the prices for those are 

ry public. They're posted every 5 minutes. 

They're also posted at 2,000 locations across 

r systems. And as we said, it includes Pennsylvania and 

other states. Those signals send very real signals to 

e market. Those public numbers and pieces of information 

nd short-term signals. 

What we have seen, for example, during 

lergencies since we opened our markets, since it's very 

11-known what customer demand looks like — that's 

blic — since it's very well-known what energy crises are 

xoss the system, we have a network of basically hundreds 

marketers throughout: the eastern interconnection that 

.11 look for energy, seeing that prices are rising in this 

igion and will bring resources, will bring energy to the 

orders of Pennsylvania and the border of the region. 

We've generally been seeing somewhere in the 

dghborhood of 5- or 6,000 megawatts brought to this 

igion during emergencies. That energy is sufficient that 

i can carry very, very high levels of customer load, 

1-time peak levels, and not move into our emergency 

ocedures that impact customers at all. 

So we've been, for the most part, been able to 

oid things like voltage reductions or brownouts and 
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rtainly the worst situation, which is a controlled 

ogram of power outages or blackouts. 

Generally, the loads we've been carrying are 

ry high. But we've not needed to resort to that because 

the market activity. On some of our most extreme 

ys — this last August was a case in point — as the 

stomer demand rises, prices will rise. 

But the market influences are so great that 

ten, so much energy is brought to the region and prices 

11 fall during some of the most extreme times of demand. 

actually see this pattern again and again, especially in 

e summertime on very hot days. 

So the market has been working very well to 

lp support reliability. As we said, some of the pricing 

gnals are public. Also, the participants have the 

dlity to transact electronically over the Internet. So 

we talked about second-by-second changes, they're 

alitor ing the conditions second by second, minute by 

nute. 

They can make decisions and then sell into the 

rket very, very quickly using a series of Internet tools. 

i the market is able to move very fast and able to keep 

ce with what's actually going on in the real-time system. 

You got quite a bit of information before. I 

ve — Attachment D just talks about, reiterating what you 
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d said, what some of the folks testifying earlier had 

id. Basically, you can see the split of fuels across our 

stem. 

We keep talking about a regional solution and 

thriving wholesale market. But one of the ways you make 

at work is that there are many buyers and sellers. And 

having a very large region, you're able to leverage the 

versity of fuel types, of generating unit design, and of 

stomer use patterns. 

So right now, these numbers explain the 

formation from PJM in the aggregate. But certainly, 

nnsylvania is part of this. So you get to enjoy this 

ite diversity of fuel type. And as you can see, natural 

s is right now only about 18 percent of PJM overall. 

The majority of that 18 percent is dual fuel. 

they also have an oil backup, and they can switch to a 

fferent fuel. So again, now that picture changes. We'll 

Ik a little bit about new generation coming on line. We 

pect that percentage to go up but still will be certainly 

t near the majority of generation for all of our 

uipment. 

As also was discussed earlier, you heard 

formation from Mr. Biden about the percentage of 

ansactions that flow through our spot market. And those 

e short term or long term or really any term the 2 
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rties have in mind. 

You can see from our 2000 numbers that 

edominantly the long and short term make up the majority 

the market. I do want to mention we have a bid price 

p of $1,000 per megawatt. That has been in place since 

sically our transition from a power pool. 

In 4 years of operation, we have only hit that 

ice cap or that big cap 9 hours. So even though we have 

cap, we're not, our market is functioning very different 

an California's. Certainly, everyone saw on the news the 

ps and how often the market was hitting that. 

Generally, basically 70 percent of the time, 

eater than 70 percent of the time, the prices in our 

rket are $30 or less. So even though we have high caps, 

cause of the thriving market and because of the many 

yers and sellers, we are not hitting that cap at all. 

d competition is keeping those prices low. 

Very often, we will have bids coming into us 

zero cost. Those that are making the bids just want to 

erate. So they're actually bidding in at zero cost. So 

are definitely seeing, definitely seeing competitive 

tion in the bidding process. 

I want to jump a little bit and talk about 

ng-term signals and get to the generation. In Attachment 

we talked about the regional planning process. PJM is, 
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basically the coordinator of the expansion planning, the 

equacy evaluation of the transmission grid. 

The process takes into account how the system 

erates now, the requirements, new generation that's 

ming on line, environmental concerns, siting concerns. 

1 of that, it gets folded into the plan. And we develop 

plan for making sure the system is reliable, the 

ansmission grid is adequate and that any potential 

oblem areas are identified. 

Right now, there is over $700 million of 

grades planned to the PJM grid system. Many of those are 

st to improve system operations. Many of them are to 

terconnect new generation. And upgrades that are 

quired is required as a result of interconnection of that 

w generation. So there is quite a bit of investment 

anned in the transmission grid right now. 

Moving on to Attachment G, we're talking about 

e generation interconnection process. This is a sample, 

tually an overview of the process itself. As the 

nerator would move through this process, repeatable 

ocess basically for all of the generators, there are 

lestones. There are financial obligations that they 

cur as they move through the process. 

Right now, we have over 60,000 megawatts of 

w generation that wants to site in this region. And as 
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said, right now, we're peaking somewhere over 50,000, 

,000 megawatts. So that's a considerable amount of 

neration that wants to come to the region. 

No one believes that all of that would go to 

mmercial operation. Most likely, a third of that will 

tually get built and operate. But that in itself would 

a significant addition to the region. And as we stated 

rlier, the vast majority of that generation is natural 

s. 

Attachment H shows by year when that planned 

neration is due to come on line. Each one of those bars 

presents an addition to the existing capacity on the 

stem. And as we said, we don't expect all of that to 

me on line. We have seen about, about 1,100 megawatts 

me on line this year. We expect about 2,000 to be on 

ne by year-end. 

Attachment I shows some of the locations of 

at new generation. A good discussion about this also 

rlier. There was some questions about transmission 

ngestion. The 5-minute energy prices that were 

sted — and we are posting those, as we said, about 2,000 

cations across the system — those that are interested in 

ilding generation basically can see that publicly where 

e prices are very high, see consistently where the prices 

e very high. 
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And if you spoke to our planners, they will 

mtion that if you look where there might be a water flow, 

ime sort of water supply, some sort of existing 

ansmission right of way, overlay that where prices are 

xy high and that is where the new generators wish to 

.te. 

And that's what the market model, that's what 

ie market rules were designed to> incent. The idea being 

iat prices are high because of transmission congestion. 

: everyone can see where those prices are, someone puts a 

iw generator there, that then helps to reduce those 

ices. 

One other comment that I can make with the 

•id is transmission congestion can be solved 2 ways: You 

in enhance the transmission grid, or you can site 

meration locally that would serve the load that that 

ingested transmission line is serving. Either of those 

•dels will solve the problem. 

PJM does not prescribe the correct model. We 

ily prescribe transmission upgrades when we see a problem 

.th the reliability of the system. But the economic 

scisions, the economic needs can be solved in either way. 

id what you're seeing is quite a growth of generation, as 

i said, peaking up on those public high prices, if you 

.11, and those predominantly high prices. 
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Part of the reason we don't expect all the 

neration to get built is once a new generator comes on 

ne, in theory, that should lower prices. It may make 

at site less attractive for some of those other 

nerators in later years. 

So our feeling is, generally, a lot of that 

uipment that's due to come on line in some of the further 

ars out most likely will not be built as the new 

nerators come on line. 

And lastly, I guess the thought I could leave 

u with in Attachment J, that's really a summary. The 

ttom line — and I know all of you don't have a color 

py — the bottom line is our forecasted load. The 

raight line second from the bottom is our load plus that 

serve requirement that we were speaking of earlier. 

The lines above it represent all the new 

neration that we have scheduled in the queues and the 

es that we expect to actually be built. Looking at any 

e of those lines, you can see that we feel there's 

fficient generation to ensure reliability with enough 

rgin for a robust competitive market. 

And as we said, what we've seen, the robust 

mpetitive market is what provides those competitive 

ices at the wholesale level, which then allows the 

mpetitive prices to exist at the retail level. 
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Thank you again for the opportunity to speak 

th you today. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Representative Gabig. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. On your charts, planned new generation towards 

e back, both the graph and the dots that show — when you 

e the term generator, you're not limiting that to a power 

ant, say? Is that a broader term when you say, you know, 

nerator; or are you talking about power plants? 

MS. TAYLOR: Generally power plants, yes. 

at could be a combustion turbine, basically jet engines 

unted on the ground. That could be some sort of combined 

cle plan as part of a factory. That could be a 

aditional plan. 

As I said, you heard quite a bit earlier about 

e, kind of the plants of choice and the size of the 

ants of choice. But many times, they're natural gas 

ants. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: So the big power plants 

at we hear about that generate energy that come into 

ople's homes would be a subset of these? 

MS. TAYLOR: Exactly. Exactly. Generally, I 

ess in our system, people might call those base load, 

ke the large nuclear plants, the large coal-fired plants. 

the western part of the state, you probably heard of 
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ystone Common Law, called the mammoth coal plants, very, 

ry close to coal plants, generally about 1,000 megawatts 

so a piece, generally very, very large units. 

Combustion turbines can be as small as 2 

gawatts a piece. But, you know, the footprint's smaller. 

vironmentally, they might be easier to get on line. So 

u generally are seeing many more smaller units, small to 

d range rather than the very large sites like Keystone 

mmon Law or Limerick Nuclear. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: The small ones, are 

ey being used primarily for industrial/commercial 

rposes; or are they also being used for residential? 

MS. TAYLOR: Many of them — the ones that we 

ve in these huge, want to connect directly to the grid, 

ich means they want to sell into the market. Now, that 

ght be — their output might be contracted by one of an 

isting distribution company like PECO, Enron, you know, 

een Mountain, who's ever serving retail customers. 

They may be under contract, or they may just 

nt to sell into the spot market or engage in long-term 

ansactions. So there can be certainly a multiple of 

oices and multiple activities for them. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: If you answered this 

ring your testimony, just tell me; and I'll review that. 

at were the color-coded queues? I mean, what does queue 
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an in the color codes to these? 

MS. TAYLOR: Okay. What's happened is with, 

we said, the public signals, you know, public prices 

at are available, there has been such a great interest 

at we have gotten many hundreds of requests to site new 

nerators. 

But to site every new generator, you need to 

aluate the impact on the existing system. You need to 

ke sure that it's feasible for that generator to 

terconnect at the same time. But you also don't want to 

>ok at them in a vacuum. You need to see what's going on. 

So what we did is we basically processed 

quests in a certain time period, maybe 3 months. All the 

iquests that we received in 3 months, we'll look at all of 

iose in one cluster and evaluate their impact to the 

stem. Then we'll take a look at the next set and the 

xt set. 

So that's what the queues represent, basically 

clustering of projects by the date that they were offered 

i PJM and kind of delineate the evaluation that we have 

irformed for that group of proposed plans. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: So does the A 

idicate — 

MS. TAYLOR: That was the first set. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: First one? 
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MS. TAYLOR: Yeah, those are the ones farthest 

ong. Many of those are under construction right now. 

REPRESENTATIVE GABIG: Okay. Thank you very 

ch. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Representative Hennessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Ms. Taylor, you had indicated that PJM company 

s $700 million planned investment in transmission in your 

stem. 

MS. TAYLOR: That would be our members, yes. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. How much of 

at deals with the relief of this congestion that Mr. 

den had spoken about as compared to — I guess what I'm 

ndering is it seems to me that PJM has the ability, if it 

shes to do so, to relieve that congestion and thereby, in 

sense, direct the creation of power plants, the building 

power plants elsewhere rather than — if you take a look 

, whichever exhibit it was with the dots — all in the 

:ry congested areas of the eastern part of the state. 

I realize that's where a lot of the 

sidential energy is used. But, you know, it seems to me 

also creates an awful lot of angst among the population, 

ying, you know, I mean, if you live near the Limerick 

clear Power Plant, as I do, people say enough is enough 

d why are we looking at 2 or 3 or 4 other plants close 
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• 

And the answer generally becomes, Well, that's 

ere PJM has its grid. And it seems to me that PJM has 

e ability to take some of that $700 million and invest it 

that its grid, in a sense, expands and the pressure is 

lieved from the populous eastern part of the state. 

But I don't, I don't hear you saying that 

u're going to do that. Is it up to your members? 

MS. TAYLOR: You know, the issue that you 

ised, I'm thinking in my mind there's probably about 4 or 

complex issues that relate to it. You're right. We do 

t own the facilities. So we cannot, we cannot force 

nstruction. We're the watchdogs for reliability. 

If our planning process identifies a critical 

ficiency in the system, we will notify the owner of those 

cilities; and then they are required basically to build. 

d normally, they are doing that. I mean, you know, 

at's basically your transmission owners. They have every 

centive in making sure the system's reliable. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Well, if there's 

ingestion and it's identifiable and you can't move cheaper 

wer to where we need it, then it would seem to me that 

at is a problem and that PJM can identify that and that 

s members should respond to that. 

MS. TAYLOR: The problem, I think, throughout 
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e nation that may help put this in some perspective is 

nerally there is — you know, transmission right now is 

te capped, tariff capped by the federal government. 

ere is not the incentives to build transmission, since 

's a fixed rate of return, the way that you would see for 

new generator, which are basically unregulated. 

All of the generators in PJM have the right to 

11 at market-based rates. All the transmission at PJM is 

gulated by the FERC using a pro forma tariff, which is on 

le with FERC. So you do not see generally the incentives 

build transmission paralleled with the way you see the 

centives to build generation. Additionally, there is 

t — 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Let me interrupt 

u, if I can. I thought you said earlier that PJM 

entities the need and then its members are required to 

dress it. And now I think I just heard you say that 

ey're not going to address it unless they can find a way 

make it, to do it more profitably. 

So I mean, is there a requirement that they 

ild to suit the need; or is it simply that you guys 

ersee and maybe referee a free market-based system? 

MS. TAYLOR: The best way to explain that is 

ssibly divide the usage of the system by emergency and 

liverability of load versus economic opportunity. And 
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e problems that we identified are for reliable and 

ergency operations of the grid. 

Congestion on the lines generally is an 

onomic situation, which has not been the domain or not 

en one of the roles of PJM in the past. There is, there 

a request by FERC to add that to our 

ansmission-enhanced expansion planning process. And 

ere is developments under way, meetings to work through 

at right now. 

But traditionally, as we said, we've been the 

liability watchdogs. We really only have kind of the 

thority to identify problems related to reliability, not 

onomics. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. But if 

ere's a villain here as far as setting the caps, it's 

RC, F-E-R-C? 

MS. TAYLOR: FERC regulates the transmission 

riffs, yes. Yes. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you. Thank 

u, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Representative Birmelin. 

REPRESENTATIVE BIRMELIN: Thank you. Ms. 

ylor, I just have a couple of short, quick questions. 

d I guess like many others who are seated here, we're 

oking at the districts that we represent and what these 
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ttle dots mean in our districts. 

And I come from Wayne County, which is in the 

rtheast corner of the state. And I know that one of 

ose dots is represented by a proposed windmill farm that 

very close to my district. And at some point, it's also 

my district. 

And I see other dots here that are real close, 

, for instance, Lackawanna County, which borders me. And 

don't know what they represent. How does one find out 

at these proposals are? I mean, who are they beginning 

is process with so that we could find out who they are 

d what they intend to do? 

MS. TAYLOR: That actually is all on our 

bsite, with the exception of the company that owns the 

ant. All of these queues — you can go to our website. 

's www.PJM.com. And if you look under Generation 

terconnection Process, you can look at each queue. 

And it gives you the name of each, or gives 

u basically the location of every facility, the type of 

tput, the type of plant it is, where it is in the 

nstruction process, where it is in this interconnection 

ocess, basically everything except the owners, any 

formation that the owner has requested be kept 

nfidential for market strategy reasons. 

But you basically can see every one of these 
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queue. There are also location maps by county of where 

e generation is going. So that's all public record. 

REPRESENTATIVE BIRMELIN: One other question. 

this particular instance that I'm referring to, this 

ndmill farm is a British-based organization and not from 

e United States. They apparently did some research and 

und out that a certain mountain chain had a, was a good 

cation for a windmill farm. 

And the only restriction that I've been 

ading about in the paper to doing what they wanted to do, 

ich is install 250-foot-high towers with 3-pronged blades 

them, is that they must meet whatever local requirements 

ere are for soil erosion and things like that for the 

cess road. 

Is there no restrictions other than those 

rts of things to any of these nuclear or — excuse 

— these generating plants; or is it because this is a 

ndmill farm? 

MS. TAYLOR: We do not, we do not get involved 

the actual siting and permitting; but our 

terconnection process is tied to that. And frequently, 

ere are environmental permits, including clean, you know, 

r requirements or site preparation, those types of 

rmits that need to be obtained. 

But we are not — we do not issue those. 
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're not part of that siting process other than generally 

e sites need to demonstrate that they've achieved certain 

lestones before they can continue through for the 

terconnection process. 

REPRESENTATIVE BIRMELIN: So the power that 

ey generate they are assured the market for; is that 

rrect? 

MS. TAYLOR: No one can ever be assured a 

rket but — 

REPRESENTATIVE BIRMELIN: It sounded to me 

en they were talking to me about it that, you know, if we 

ild these windmills, we generate this electricity, that 

wers will have to be accepted and we have to access to 

ose who want to buy power from us, which I guess in their 

se is called this green power or whatever. 

It's got a higher rate of cost to those who 

e it. But there are people who specifically request it. 

d so they think there is a market for people who want 

nd-generated electricity and who will pay more for it. 

t they — I sort of got the impression from them that 

ey felt that they were assured that there was a buyer for 

at and that it had to be absorbed by whatever, grid or 

atever that they were being assigned to. 

MS. TAYLOR: There are — I guess the best way 

describe that, we talked about that new generation. And 
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u also heard about the reliability assurance program, the 

pacity program. The idea is that, in general, much of 

at new generation, even though it's the independent or 

rchant generation like that, may be very quickly 

bscribed or contracted with those that serve load for 

ng-term contracts. 

So I can't speculate. But possibly, they may 

entering into some sort of long-term contract with 

meone who does supply load. 

REPRESENTATIVE BIRMELIN: My last question is, 

ere is that portion of the generating market going to? I 

an, is this a growing trend that people want things that 

e produced by hydroelectric or windmills or whatever, the 

-called alternative sources to traditional fuels like gas 

d oil? 

I mean, is it growing; or is it always just 

ing to be that small portion of the market share? 

MS. TAYLOR: That's a great question. And I'm 

inking. I might not be able to speculate on consumer 

tterns. But what I am familiar with is that many of the 

ates — and frequently, you know, you hear some 

scussions where the states themselves are adopting some 

rt of portfolio levels for suppliers where they may 

pect a certain percentage of green power, you know, a 

rtain percentage of generation in a particular state to 
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supplied by that. 

So if you see more of that going on, there 

rtainly will be more of a demand for that. But as we 

id, consumers, I'm not sure we can speculate what the 

tcome or what their ultimate demands are going to be. 

REPRESENTATIVE BIRMELIN: I guess my question 

, In the area in which you are involved in — which is, 

u said, 5 states and portions of the District of 

lumbia — have you seen an increase in the past 10 years 

this so-called green power alternative provision? 

MS. TAYLOR: There are definitely — I mean, 

e wind farm itself is a case in point. Generally, there, 

believe there might have been 1 or 2 in the state before 

at, which aren't functioning right now, one out in 

ading, which you can drive past and see it not 

nctioning. 

So certainly, that's a case in point where you 

e seeing an increase in those types of plants, those 

pes of projects. Also, what everyone keeps mentioning, 

e fact that the new construction is generally natural 

s, which starts out at a much cleaner level than, you 

ow, what you've see before. 

The new efficient — the plants themselves are 

ch more efficient and much cleaner. So overall, you're 

eing, you're seeing a trend in all types of generating 
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.its, all types of designs to be cleaner, smaller, 

ieter, more efficient. 

So I think, you know, you're just seeing that 

end everywhere and probably seeing it a little bit more 

amatically with the windmills. 

REPRESENTATIVE BIRMELIN: Thank you. Thank 

iu, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Chairman Blaum. 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

. Taylor, we're here as a result of House Resolution 100 

icause of price fluctuations that astonished and shocked 

e people of this Commonwealth. As I pore through the 

stimony and experienced that situation as we all did, we 

gin to understand the confluence of circumstances which 

lped that all happen. 

I think the General Assembly and the people of 

innsylvania would hope that the industry would be smart 

ough to prepare for that, which I've not heard this 

irning. What could — because, again, that may be our 

icommendation to the General Assembly. 

What could the electric, gas, oil, and so on 

ve done to prepare for that — because it will happen 

ain — to prepare for that emergency in a way that could 

event prices from going through the roof, prices that 

ople and our businesses and our employers are not 
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spared for? 

Again, the idea that our confidence in all of 

nr expertise is this shouldn't happen, that somebody 

ould have been better prepared given all the current 

rcumstances. We're happy to see all, again, additional 

nerators coming on line. That's not going to happen for 

number of years. 

So what under the current circumstances — and 

ese are the circumstances of which we're going to live 

r the next several years. How can you, we better 

epare? 

MS. TAYLOR: I think — the best way I would 

swer that is I think what's already been done is, within 

nnsylvania and with the remainder of the states in PJM, 

s the commissions retain the rate caps to the retail 

stomers, if you will, with the idea that it was going to 

ke a while for the markets to mature, it was going to 

ke a while for the market signals to get out, be 

ceived, and incent that new generation. 

Every day, customer demand rises and falls. 

d every day, long before deregulation prices — which 

ppen to be cost-based on our system — would rise during 

e day with that demand and it would fall at the end of 

e day. Consumers did not see that. Consumers still 

n't see that. 
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So even the prices we've been speaking of do 

t directly translate to consumers. Some large 

dustrials have prices keyed to our clearing prices, which 

e public. So some of them are seeing the effects of that 

ice. 

But I'd say the best thing that's happened so 

r is to allow the markets to mature, allow the incentives 

get out there, provide those additional resources to get 

e market functioning while truly competitive so that when 

e rate caps come off, the situation is much different 

an what you saw in the western part of the country. 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: So it's been solved? 

're not going to have the huge spike in prices that we 

w last year? 

MS. TAYLOR: The engineer won't let me say no 

cause anything could happen on the system. You know, a 

se in point — this happened before — a barge crashes 

to a major transmission line in the Delaware River. That 

ne * s out of service. Generation now can't get to some 

ad areas. That can cause prices to increase. 

Or a flaw is found in a particular unit 

sign. All those units need to go off line. That can 

use prices — what PJM can do and what our market rules 

e designed to do is make sure the prices are fair, the 

ices are competitive no matter what happens. 

JENNIFER P. McGRATH, RPR 
(570) 622-6850 



84 

But as I said, the engineer won't let me 

arantee that you'll always see low prices. 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: And I don't think you 

.ould say that. Never say never here. But having said 

at, never say never, to the extent that we possibly can, 

: would not want that to happen again. The outrage was, 

you know — your phone rang, too. But again, never say 

ver. 

Do you believe that the corrections have been 

de that would keep prices stable, given the confluence of 

rcumstances that occurred last year, so that we won't see 

ese astronomical prices? 

MS. TAYLOR: Right. We've been, we've been 

leing historically numbers — average price in '99, very, 

iry hot summer, about $28.32. Average price in 2000, a 

t more moderate summer, average price across the board 

s about $28.14. This year, we might be tracking 

mewhere closer to 30s. 

Everyone remembers the heat wave in August. 

i no matter what has been happening, the prices seem to be 

acking very stable within a very small tolerance. So we 

ve no reason not to expect that to continue, especially 

th the new generation coming on line. 

Load growth in this region is generally under 

percent, been tracking very, very steadily at that level 
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ir many years. There are some areas, though, that are 

:periencing load growth much above that. But again, 

lat's where a lot of that new generation wants to site. 

So the signals that we're seeing is we see 

•thing that would expect us, or nothing that would 

idicate that something very different is going to happen 

lan what's been happening in the past. 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: So the industry today is 

ich better prepared for those circumstances all arriving 

. the same time to keep prices stable than it was a year, 

3 ago? 

MS. TAYLOR: Right. I think there's certainly 

sen many lessons learned. I think we have been lucky in 

lis region. The stakeholders wanted us to go open on 

Lrkets in a very controlled process. It's probably a good 

»int to make. California opened up with full markets 

LY 1. 

In the PJM region, we started out with a 

tolesale market, have been adding other markets very 

.owly with the idea that you do not want a new market to 

sgatively impact one that's already functioning well. So 

s have 6 markets open right now, plans to open future 

tes. 

But again, always make sure there's a very 

lorough analysis done, that there's no negative impacts to 
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e, to the very critical markets like the wholesale energy 

rket. 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: Thanks very much. Thanks, 

. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you. 

presentative Browne. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Thank you, Ms. Taylor, for your testimony. Just 

e quick question, actually a follow-up on Representative 

big's comments. In your grid on planned new generation 

cations, you had mentioned that the different queues 

late to the different planning stages of development. 

MS. TAYLOR: Yes. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Is there any 

gnificant differences that are government imposed that 

uld make Pennsylvania's planning process longer than new 

neration development in New Jersey or surrounding states 

at you know of? 

MS. TAYLOR: None that I'm aware of. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: So consumer prices 

n't be impacted by our process to, to produce new 

neration? We're about the same as other states? 

MS. TAYLOR: Yeah. As I said, I'm certainly 

t aware of any differences between states. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Thank you, Mr. 
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airman. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you, Representative 

owne. It seems to me that, it seems to me that the 

nnsylvania General Assembly is a lot smarter than the 

lifornia General Assembly related to deregulation. But 

's occurred to me with respect to transmission — and 

re's why — maybe you have an answer to this. 

But I'm a big generator. I generate a lot of 

wer. This is a hypothetical. And now it's to my benefit 

at the prices on transmission be capped because there was 

comment made earlier on that this causes this congestion, 

ich, which kind of restricts the smaller operators from 

tting into play. 

So I'm essentially controlling competition by, 

not advocating or not seeking to have transmission 

ices, the cap taken off transmission costs because people 

at own the transmission lines don't see a good enough 

turn on investment. 

So they're not going to build more 

ansmission lines, which then results in, during high 

mand times, that there is congestion, which keeps the 

aller players out of the system, which means I won't see 

lot of small generators coming into, on line because, 

ce again, they're not going to make any money. 

Now, they can charge the same rate or less 
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an I can; and they can compete. But because the 

ansmission line costs are capped, I've essentially, 

rough that vehicle, excluded competition. Is that fair 

say? 

And if it is, what is happening out there in 

ur industry to remove those caps so that some of these 

aller players like those windmills in Representative 

rmelin's district can become real players and compete 

th other generators? 

MS. TAYLOR: What had happened, I guess it was 

RC order 889 actually required that transmission owners 

en up their transmission systems. So one point to make 

we're having this discussion, everyone, even those that 

ilt the transmission, if you will, or want to use their 

n transmission, has to buy the service through the same 

chanism that the small generator would. 

So FERC wanted to create a process where there 

uld be no barriers in entries to small generators coming 

or to move energy the whole way across the northeast. 

at was their plan. Everyone has the same access, if you 

11. 

The way they mandated that is the transmission 

rvices sold over the Internet, and they prescribed what 

ese tools look like. PJM is the provider for the 

ansmission owners in this area. But there are similar 
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tes all across the country, for every transmission 

stem, if you will, across the country. 

So that service is sold. There are very rigid 

quirements as to how far in advance you can buy service, 

at the definitions of service look like. And all parties 

e required to purchase their service using that 

chanism. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: That's all well and good. 

t the thrust of my, my hypothetical was that, you know, 

en though they come up with regulations that say, Well, 

're going to mandate that everybody has access; but we're 

t going to take a cap off the amount that you can charge 

r that access. 

So essentially, what that does is limits 

cess because there's only a limited number of 

ansmission lines. And because the way the power flows 

om west to east, it creates this congestion. And as a 

rge generator who doesn't really want to see a lot of 

mpetition, I'm saying do whatever you want. 

You can have mandates, regulations saying 

ual access and all these; but don't take those caps off 

ose rates because that's the key to opening up that 

rket and lowering prices because a lot more people can 

me in. You'll see a lot more transmission capacity 

nstructed. That's what my point is, and that's what I 
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nted your response on. 

MS. TAYLOR: You're very correct in what 

u're saying. It's a limited resource. We have a very 

•hanical process that's a public process how we calculate 

w much energy can move through the line on a given hour 

every day. And then that's basically what's sold. 

The mechanism, the mechanism that allows there 

be some, you know, something going on over and above 

at is the, is the energy pricing methodology we have, 

cational marginal price. And to boil it down into one, 

u know, sentence, if you will, if there's no congestion 

ywhere on the system, anyone who sells energy receives 

e same price. Anyone who buys energy is going to pay the 

me price. 

If there's congestion, prices will start to 

se in those areas that are using the congested lines and 

where else on the system. So those prices are high, but 

ey're only going to be high to those that are using those 

ngested lines. 

Those who are using those congested lines have 

ny decisions. They can decide that they don't want to 

y that extra premium, and they can curtail their 

ansaction. Or they can buy through it, agree to pay the 

ice differential. 

There's also a hedging mechanism, a financial 
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isurance policy, if you will, that they can purchase ahead 

time to hedge themselves against those costs. So even 

ough that's a limited facility, those other options allow 

iere to be greater use of the line and, as you said, 

imewhat more equitable basis or more opportunities for 

hers to use the lines. 

That hedging mechanism is actually full 

.rket, and there's an auction for that product. So there 

e other mechanisms in, you know, future months planned to 

y to make that more of a possibility absent the growth 

•, you know, increase in the transmission capability. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Well, it seems to me that 

te, on that map you have of the new generating stations, 

>st of them are being put in areas where the price of 

ectricity is higher. 

MS. TAYLOR: Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: So these are higher 

imand areas. 

MS. TAYLOR: Right. And generally at the 

irminating end of a lot of that congestion. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: And then getting into, 

illowing up a little bit on what Representative Blaum 

dd, you know, we're looking at a potential for market 

mditions where consumers and businesses in our, in the 

ate, in our district see high price spikes that they 
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dn't anticipate. 

It seems to me that this transmission problem, 

is congestion is really what leads to these spikes and 

gh charges. Then you have the smaller players who maybe 

uld want to get into the market and sell their 

ectricity perhaps at a lesser price. 

They simply can't do it because of the 

ngestion, even though they're providing power into those 

eas where the demand is highest and the price potentially 

higher. You said that they have an option. They can 

st say, Well, we're not going to, even though the price 

higher, the market is really, you know, it's great, 

're just not going to get into it because the cost of 

ansmission now has become too much for us to bear. 

Now, is there anything that the Pennsylvania 

gislature could do with respect to these caps that we 

aced on transmissions so that we could encourage better 

turn on investment, better transmission, more 

ansmission lines in those areas where the prices are 

gher and see more players come into the arena in 

nnsylvania; or is that totally under the control of the 

deral government? 

MS. TAYLOR: The actual tariff prices are 

ght now under the control of the government because they 

1 are intrastate. As we talked about, the new 
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nerators, though, once you build that new generator, that 

eruse or that congestion of that line then most likely 

11 not happen because that load now can be served by one 

those new generators. 

So some of the congestion may relieve itself 

ce those generators get on line. You're now serving the 

ad locally, and you don't need to use that particular 

ne to get the energy there. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: I'm just sensing a real 

luctance on the part of the industry to take the caps off 

these transmission prices. And I don't know what's 

ppening in Washington. But it's something we'll look 

to because I would expect that, you know, a business 

uld be down there in an era of deregulation and poundxng 

the door of Congress saying, you know, take the caps off 

ese transmission prices so we can start building more 

ansmission lines and get power out there. 

But it seems that we're seeing just the 

posite. They're very much satisfied with these caps, 

ich lead to some of the problems that you've alluded to. 

MS. TAYLOR: One comment that you certainly 

ar from developers is to construct a new transmission 

ne is almost impossible. Now, again, these are not my 

rds. They're not the words of my company. But 

rtainly, what you hear, that siting a new transmission 
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ne is very difficult. 

There are very few technologies that enable 

u to upgrade existing transmission right of way and get 

gnificant increases in capability. There are some. And 

rtainly, many of our members are experimenting with those 

projects. 

But generally, I've heard, I've heard 

rticipants in our markets say you can get a generator on 

ne in 18 months and it might take you 20 years for a 

ansmission line. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Just one question. It's 

quick question, but I don't know if the answer is going 

be quick. But you talked about the cost. And I think 

u said that it's around $30 a megawatt, sometimes 28. 

MS. TAYLOR: Some are 28. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: And go up to $1,000. 

at's the bid cap. 

MS. TAYLOR: Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: And that's occurred. 

MS. TAYLOR: Nine hours. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Maybe 9 hours, but it has 

curred. 

MS. TAYLOR: In 4 years, right. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: But then you also said 

at some people are bidding at zero — 
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MS. TAYLOR: Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: — simply to stay in the 

rket. I'm assuming that's at low demand time when you 

ve that, that — 

MS. TAYLOR: No. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: — somebody that just 

nts to stay in business? 

MS. TAYLOR: Right. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: I don't know how they 

ay in business by bidding zero. But what factors go into 

termining the price or the cost of electricity when, you 

LOW, I see a generating station, it seems everything is 

etty much fixed in place, can only produce so much? 

I guess they have 2 generators. They can turn 

e off and turn it back on. But I don't think the cost in 

irms of doing that is that excessive. So what determines 

at price that makes it go from $30 to $1,000? Is it 

rely demand, or are there other factors that come into 

tat? 

MS. TAYLOR: What — and maybe also a point on 

e zero cost bid. Our market clears, as we said. So 

atever the clearing price is, anyone who's bid and we've 

lected to operate will receive that clearing price. 

.yone who wants to buy is going to pay. Anyone who wants 

i sell is receiving that. 
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So someone who bids in at zero will be 

mpensated as the price increases throughout the day. So 

ey'll be getting compensated whatever the clearing price 

, which, you know, obviously is above zero. So that's 

w, you know — it might be they want to run a unit, they 

nt to keep it running for a while, they're going to take 

out of maintenance, for whatever reason. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: So they don't really know 

at the price is? They just pay — 

MS. TAYLOR: Right. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: This 5-minute segment, 

at's what they get? 

MS. TAYLOR: Right. But there's also 4 years' 

rth of energy data, energy pricing data that's public. 

' many of those that are participating in our market 

oroughly analyze that data. You know, as we said, it's 

blic. They have quite a bit of information. 

So they can make some relatively informed 

esses about what, you know, what their risks would be and 

at they might be able to achieve in the market. So that, 

at might answer that portion of — let's see. Some of 

e other questions, maybe those aren't even, even the 

st — or I'm certainly not the best expert to respond to 

ose. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you. 
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presentative Hennessey has a question. Thank you. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Ms. Taylor, just to revisit a question from a 

w moments ago, I think you said that the need is supplied 

these new generators; and therefore, that relieves the, 

iu know, I guess to some extent relieves the idea of the 

ed for the transmission lines to be approved. 

But if the new generators are coming on line 

cause that's where they can make the most money, then 

s, the energy supply is created and the demand is 

tisfied; but it's satisfied, it seems to me, at a higher 

ist than it would be with this transmission. 

An increase in transmission capacity has the 

nefit of bringing in lower cost energy, not, not just 

mply answering the demand for energy but doing it at the 

west possible cost. The new generators aren't doing that 

cause they're coming out, they're coming on line because 

ey think they can make a big buck by locating in an area 

high demand. 

And it seems to me, as Tom was getting to, a 

luctance on the part of whoever owns these lines to 

crease their capacity seems to me to be sort of a 

If-fulfilling prophecy. We can't bring in the outside 

ergy from somebody else; and therefore, we're going to 

pply it at a higher, higher rate here, which doesn't 
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lp — it helps the consumer in the sense he has the 

ergy; but it doesn't help him in the sense he's paying 

e higher price. 

MS. TAYLOR: The mechanism that helps to keep 

at in check is that every day, we do an analysis of those 

mpetitive bids. So if someone were a new generator, you 

ow, the idea is you see what the prices are now. And you 

nt to undercut that to operate because if you didn't, the 

lection would still be made to whatever's the most 

onomic choice. 

Even in relieving congestion, we always look 

what's the lowest cost alternative. And I don't know if 

's worth a lot to even talk about this. Our market 

nitor actually collects cost information on all 

nerators built prior to 1996. 

Generators that are used to relieve congestion 

e actually swapped back to their cost bids so that they 

nnot use, they can't use opportunistic or very high costs 

owing that they might be the only solution to relieve 

ngestion* 

So they are actually back to cost bids to 

tigate market power. But, you know, again, somewhat of a 

delight. But the idea is even that new generator still 

s to competitively bid and has to get selected by PJM to 

erate the next day. 
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So they still — you know, as long as 

ere's — as we said, the more, the more participants in 

e market help to make those bids competitive. So they 

ally do not have any sort of, you know, any sort of firm 

derstanding that their energy will be bought at a very 

gh price. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: One other question 

st to follow up. The location of new transmission lines 

u said was going to take decades. 

MS. TAYLOR: That's generally what, what 

mbers said. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: What about 

grading existing lines? What are the problems there? 

st, you know, people complaining about the, you know, 

re energy surging through the lines and existing lines? 

ide from the federally placed caps on prices the 

ansmission lines can charge, what's keeping — 

MS. TAYLOR: There actually are many upgrades 

the way. And that has never stopped the upgrades. So 

ose are still continuing. Generally, what limits the 

ansmission legally to run a parallel line, if you will, 

the size of the right of way. 

But anything that can be done within that 

ght of way generally is and can be and is planned to be 

ne. We were talking about that $700 million of 
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vestment in the grid. Some of that, a large portion of 

at is due to the new generators. But much of it was 

ready planned anyway just to accommodate load growth and 

creases by the transmission owners themselves. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: On the existing 

nes? 

MS. TAYLOR: On the existing lines, right. So 

ey've always had an active program of upgrades and 

ntinue to do so. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you very 

ch. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Well, thank you very 

ch, Ms. Taylor, for coming here today and testifying 

fore the committee. It's been very informative and very 

lpful in understanding this issue. And with that, we're 

ing to take a 5-minute break to give our stenographer's 

ngers a rest. And we'll be back here at about 4 minutes 

12:00, about 5 minutes. 

(A brief recess was taken.) 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Okay. The House 

diciary Committee will come to order. Our next witness 

Mr. Irwin Popowsky, Officer, Office of Consumer 

vocate. Sorry, Mr. Popowsky. And you may proceed when 

u're ready. 

MR. POPOWSKY: Thank you, Chairman Gannon, 
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airman Blaum, members of the committee. My name is Sonny 

powsky. I am the consumer advocate of Pennsylvania. We 

e a State office. Our job is to represent the interests 

Pennsylvania consumers before the PUC, the Pennsylvania 

blic Utility Commission, and other state and federal 

encies and courts. Of particular interest in this 

aring, of course, is that we represent customers of 

nnsylvania's natural gas and electric service providers. 

I want to commend you, Representative Gannon, 

r sponsoring House Resolution 100 and for scheduling this 

aring. I believe that these questions, legal, economic, 

vironmental, that are raised in House Resolution 100 are 

ry important to you and all of your constituents. And I 

pe that my testimony can be helpful today. 

I think the basic question that you're asking 

, How are we doing in Pennsylvania regarding both 

ectric and natural gas? And I think the answers are 

fferent. I think it is a tail of 2 industries. In 

ectric, I think Pennsylvania consumers have fared pretty 

11 under our 1996 electric restructuring legislation. 

Today, as you've heard, the reliability and 

pply of electricity are adequate. And structures are in 

ace to provide effective price protection for retail 

nnsylvania electric consumers. Most importantly, the 

nsumer protections that you built into the act in 1996, 
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eluding the long-term caps on the price of service 

ovided by the incumbent utilities for a price that they 

n charge for generation, have prevented substantial harm 

Pennsylvania consumers during what is necessarily a long 

ansition to more fully competitive retail and wholesale 

ectricity markets. 

With respect to natural gas, availability and 

pply have not been at issue. However, Pennsylvania 

nsumers and indeed natural gas consumers across the 

tion suffered last year through an unprecedented spike in 

ices that made it difficult, if not impossible, for many 

milies to pay their winter heating bills. 

Fortunately, natural gas prices have returned 

is year to more normal levels. But we must try to ensure 

at last year's catastrophic price rise does not become a 

curring event. 

Now turning more specifically to each of these 

sues. The question I'm most often asked with respect to 

ectricity is one of the questions that you asked this 

xning, Chairman Gannon, which is whether the terrible 

ilures that have occurred in California are likely to 

ppen here in Pennsylvania. 

My answer is that if Pennsylvania continues to 

'How the reasoned, measured approach that we embarked 

on several years ago at both the wholesale and retail 
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vels, then there is no reason to expect that the 

lifornia experience of rolling blackouts, bankrupt 

ilities, and wild price swings will occur here. 

I mention the wholesale markets first because 

is impossible for a successful retail competitive market 

develop unless the wholesale market in bulk power 

rkets are workably competitive. Pennsylvania is 

tremely fortunate, in my opinion, that most of our 

ectric utilities and soon nearly all of our electric 

ilities are a part of the PJM Interconnection. 

As you've already heard, PJM utilities have 

tually been working together on a regional basis since 

27 and now operate as part of the nation's most 

ccessful independent system operator, or ISO. The PJM 

rkets are far from perfect. 

But they are, in my opinion, far superior to 

rtually every other wholesale market region in America. 

e wholesale prices that are produced in the PJM 

rketplace, with some important exceptions, have been 

nerally consistent with results that one would expect in 

competitive market. 

In addition, PJM maintains strict reliability 

quirements that must be met by all entities that serve 

tail customers in the PJM region. Again, as you've heard 

rlier, the PJM region appears to have adequate generation 
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resources today and for the foreseeable future. 

Now, building on the PJM foundation, 

nnsylvania's own electric restructuring reforms have also 

ovided benefits to consumers. Our rate caps, our retail 

te caps assure that Pennsylvania customers do not have to 

y more for electricity now than they were paying when our 

structuring act was passed in 1996. 

In addition, more than half a million or about 

percent of Pennsylvania electric consumers have switched 

> alternative electric generation suppliers, whether to 

ceive lower prices or to purchase power from generation 

sources that they believe to be cleaner than, or greener 

an traditional utility resources. 

Electric utility programs, to assist low 

come consumers to pay their bills and to conserve energy, 

re also substantially increased across Pennsylvania 

thout producing rate increases for consumers. Finally, 

nnsylvania's leadership role in electric restructuring 

s helped to attract new types of renewable generating 

sources, such as wind and solar power, that previously 

d gone substantially untapped. 

Now, it is true that retail competition has 

creased somewhat from its year 2000 levels. Some market 

rticipants and other commentators have suggested that we 

ould abandon our rate caps, our retail rate caps in 
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iiinsylvania, let our utilities raise their prices well 

ove their 1996 levels so that it would be easier for 

mpetitors to come in and win customers. 

I think this idea must be rejected in the 

rongest terms. It must be recalled that Pennsylvania 

ilities have been allowed to charge ratepayers for 

llions of dollars of so-called stranded costs that were 

pected to arise because competition would force rates to 

> well below their 1996 levels. 

What consumers got in return was rate caps 

at protected them from paying even higher rates during 

e period in which those stranded costs were collected. 

at was the deal. If that deal is broken and consumers 

ise price cap protection, then the utilities, in my 

anion, should first give back the $12 billion in stranded 

ists that Pennsylvania consumers are paying those 

ilities for anticipated losses. 

In my opinion, the way to increase retail 

impetition in Pennsylvania is by correcting any remaining 

aws in the wholesale market, not by increasing retail 

tes and abandoning the rate caps that were supposed to 

otect consumers during this transition period. 

In electricity, therefore, I think our policy 

>al should be to stay the course and continue to provide 

otections for consumers while we see how competitive 
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rkets develop. That is not to say that the General 

sembly should do nothing. 

For example, I have testified in favor of a 

ries of House Bills, House Bill 1076 through 1079, that 

uld increase Pennsylvania *s commitment to renewable 

sources and demand side energy programs. I have also 

stified in support of House Bill 1433 that would provide 

modest level of state funding to support voluntary low 

come programs that have been implemented by 

nnsylvania's electric and gas utilities. 

There is no question in my mind that our 

ergy policy will have failed if we provide an abundance 

choices to some customers but leave our poorest 

nsumers quite literally out in the cold. 

Now, with respect to natural gas service, the 

st severe price shock in recent years occurred last 

nter when wholesale natural gas commodity spot prices 

yrocketed across the nation. The impact of these price 

creases flowed through to Pennsylvania retail consumers. 

Now, fortunately, last year's wholesale gas 

ice increases were immediately followed by a rapid plunge 

those prices. And those reduced wholesale prices are 

w being reflected in the retail prices paid by 

nnsylvania natural gas consumers. And this is providing 

me needed rate relief to many Pennsylvanians as we enter 
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is winter's heating season. 

The fact that wholesale natural gas prices 

ve dropped in recent months, however, does not lessen the 

portance of this committee's task under House Resolution 

0. The natural gas price roller coaster is not 

stainable. 

In trying to understand our recent experience 

d in trying to avoid seeing it happen again, it must be 

cognized that the wholesale price of natural gas, the 

-called price at the wellhead as Mr. Rosenthal indicated, 

s been deregulated for many years, more than 20 years. 

This has nothing to do with the act passed by 

e General Assembly, the Pennsylvania General Assembly in 

99 that opened a portion of the retail segment of our 

cal natural gas utilities to competition. Wholesale 

tural gas prices were once regulated at the federal 

vel, but now they are not regulated at all. 

Rather, the wholesale price of gas is set 

rough the competitive market. In my opinion, that market 

s worked well over the years in assuring an adequate 

pply of natural gas at reasonable prices. In early 2000, 

wever, the dynamics of the market changed dramatically. 

One of the causes of the problems of early 

00 actually was the fact that gas prices had been so low 

prior years that many gas producers had stopped drilling 
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r new gas. The problem was exacerbated by the emergence 

an increased demand for natural gas for new electric 

neration, for new electric generation units that are 

eled by natural gas. 

These electric generating units operate during 

riods of peak summer electric usage when the demand for 

tural gas was traditionally low. In addition, in the 

ring of 2000, gas storage levels were lower than normal, 

ile gas prices were beginning to climb higher than 

rmal. 

Now, prices rose steadily as the winter of 

00/2001 began to approach; and then prices simply raced 

t of control. During calendar year 2000, the spot price 

natural gas at the Henry Hub — again, which was 

ntioned by Mr. Rosenthal — the Henry Hub in Louisiana 

se from $2.17 per thousand cubic feet, or Mcf, from $2.17 

$10.87. 

As these higher wholesale prices began to work 

eir way into Pennsylvania retail bills, the impact was 

treme, leaving many people across Pennsylvania unable to 

y their monthly gas bills. In addition, in most of 

nnsylvania, the increase in gas prices was coupled with 

lder than normal temperatures, particularly in the early 

rt of the winter, which caused monthly bills to rise even 

gher. 
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Now, today, as I noted before, wholesale 

ices have dropped substantially from last year's levels. 

s producers have expanded production and began drilling 

w wells at a rapid pace. The amount of gas storage has 

creased to normal levels and above. And wholesale prices 

opped to the point where the reported Henry Hub spot 

ice earlier this month, November 14th, was back down to 

.04 per thousand cubic feet. 

Again, these wholesale price reductions are 

w beginning to be reflected in the retail bills paid by 

nnsylvania natural gas consumers. Based on current 

ojections, the lower wholesale prices are expected to 

ntinue through the next several months; though, it is 

tremely hazardous to try to predict the future of natural 

s prices. 

At the retail level, although competition for 

s supply is permitted throughout most of Pennsylvania, 

e great majority of residential consumers continue to be 

rved by their traditional local natural gas distribution 

mpanies. And the retail prices that those customers pay 

e regulated by the PUC. 

Each natural gas distribution company 

rchases gas at the wholesale level and essentially passes 

at gas on to its residential and other retail consumers 

cost; that is, the local gas distribution companies 
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nerally do not mark up or profit from the sale of the 

tural gas itself. 

Under Section 1307 of the Public Utility Code, 

ch natural gas distribution company's purchased gas costs 

e reviewed every year by the PUC and other parties, such 

my office. We work to ensure that each gas utility is 

rving its customers at the lowest reasonable price; that 

, by purchasing its gas through a least gas procurement 

licy. 

So what would I recommend with respect to 

tural gas issues in Pennsylvania? Well, at several of 

r recent purchased gas cost proceedings, our office has 

commended that the utility purchase a larger portion of 

s gas supplies at fixed prices rather than under 

ntracts that are indexed to the spot price of gas. 

We believe it is important for the gas 

ilities to have a diversified gas portfolio that allows 

e gas utilities the flexibility to take advantage of 

wer cost supplies when they become available but also 

ovides assurance that their overall gas supplies will not 

as vulnerable to the kind of wild swings that we have 

en in the last year and a half. 

Also, as I said, with respect to electric 

tes, I have endorsed efforts at the state level, such as 

use Bill 1433, to help Pennsylvanians most in need of 
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sistance to withstand the impacts of high or volatile gas 

ices. High natural gas prices were hard on all 

nnsylvania consumers last winter, but the impact was 

rticularly harsh on low income consumers who have 

fficulty paying their bills in normal times. 

I'd like to close my testimony by addressing a 

iecific question in House Resolution 100; namely, whether 

e price spikes that we've discussed resulted from any 

olations of federal or state statutes. With respect to 

st year's natural gas price spike, I'm not aware of any 

bstantial evidence that gas suppliers broke any laws. 

As I noted above, a number of actions and 

ents coincided to allow the tremendous and sudden 

crease in natural gas prices; but I do not know that any 

those actions were illegal. 

The situation with respect to wholesale 

ectric prices is somewhat more complicated. Just last 

iek, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, 

dtiated an investigation into market-based pricing in 

idesale power markets. Under market-based pricing, the 

ice of wholesale power is supposed to be kept in check by 

impetition. 

The FERC's recent order calls that assumption 

Lto question, particularly for companies that are not part 

: regional transmission organizations or independent 
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stem operators, such as PJM. Even in PJM, there has been 

idence of the use of market power to raise prices, 

rticularly in the market for installed capacity. 

In January, February, and March of this year, 

i saw a substantial and sustained increase in prices for 

tstalled capacity. PJM's market monitoring unit has 

included that one company was able to exercise market 

wer to raise capacity prices above competitive levels 

ring that period. 

Now, to my knowledge, no one has concluded 

at this was a violation of law or of the PJM market rules 

at were then in effect. But I do think it's reasonable 

i conclude that the capacity rates resulting from those 

tions were not just and reasonable as required under the 

deral Power Act. 

The appropriate solution under the existing 

stem, which PJM promptly took, was to obtain permission 

om the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission to strengthen 

>me of its market rules to prevent a recurrence of this 

oblem in the future. 

So in conclusion, in my opinion, the energy 

.tlook for Pennsylvania with respect to electricity and 

.tural gas is reasonably bright. You said earlier, 

ipresentative Gannon, that perhaps the Pennsylvania 

meral Assembly was smarter than other state legislatures. 
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d maybe I should just agree with that. 

But in my opinion, what you recognized was 

at formerly monopoly products, like electricity and 

tural gas, cannot simply be deregulated in one day in the 

lief that perfect competition will emerge instantly in 

der to protect consumers from the exercise of market 

>wer and other market flaws. 

To the contrary, Pennsylvania has kept in 

ace necessary consumer protections to try to ensure that 

msumers are not harmed during the transition to more 

impetitive energy markets but rather, can benefit from 

mpetitive changes while still retaining some of the 

otections of needed regulation. 

I hope this testimony has been helpful to you 

d the committee. And I'd be happy to answer any 

estions you have at this time. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you, Mr. Popowsky. 

.airman Blaum. 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: Mr. Popowsky, I asked this 

estion of the previous witness. Due to what happened 

ring last winter and the spikes that we saw in prices, 

iich were difficult for the people in Pennsylvania to 

.ndle, given, again, the confluence of circumstances that 

ppened back then, the previous witness indicated 

.at steps have been taken to, you know — while never say 
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ver — to prevent that from happening again in the 

dustry here in Pennsylvania. And what is your opinion? 

MR. POPOWSKY: Yeah. I think that Ms. Taylor 

s answering in response to electric prices, I believe. 

d I think your question may have also gone to natural 

s. But as to electric, I would agree with her 

sessment; that is, I think PJM is the premier wholesale 

rket organization in the nation and does the best job of 

oducing results that are competitive. 

More importantly, I believe that Pennsylvania 

s protections in place. And that's — and particularly, 

e rate caps — and that's why you didn't see last year or 

>u haven't seen since 1996 any increases, any increases in 

mnsylvania electric rates. 

The complaints I believe that we, the 

mplaints we received and I believe the complaints you 

iceived have to do with the, with the natural gas prices. 

» — I'm sorry? 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: And oil. 

MR. POPOWSKY: And oil, which is not regulated 

the PUC. But in any case, I think we are — because of 

.e, because of the excellent PJM market and because of the 

otections in place in Pennsylvania, I think we're okay on 

ie electric side. 

On the gas side, the prices have come down 
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is year. The same kind of market forces that worked last 

ar to our disadvantage worked to our advantage this year. 

e laws of supply and demand have worked to our advantage 

is year. 

Now, the question is, How do we prevent that 

nd of roller coaster? I think one of the ways to do it 

to, is for our gas utilities, now that they've seen what 

n happen, now that they've seen the extraordinary events 

last winter, I think they're well aware that, that more 

their supplies have to be tied down to a fixed price 

.ther than a price that is indexed to the, to the Henry 

b spot price. 

Now, that's not to say that 100 percent of the 

s should be a fixed price because if you do that, then 

iu might get a fixed price that's just, it turns out to be 

10 high. What it means is you have to be flexible in your 

.s procurement policies so that at least a substantial 

•rtion of your gas prices are tied down and will not be as 

isceptible to those kind of price spikes. 

At the same time, you do want to have some gas 

tat is indexed so that when prices go down, you can take 

[vantage of those. So that's one thing that I think the 

s utilities in Pennsylvania are well aware of. I think 

ie Commission now is well aware of it and will take a look 

that in future proceedings where we analyze the 
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mpanies' gas procurement policies in each year. 

As I said, we are seeing, already seeing 

amatic declines in the prices charged by our gas 

ilities. And I would hope that having been once burned 

a price spike that no one had ever seen the like of, 

at people will now, you know, when they look and see that 

ey might be low on storage, that prices may be going up, 

at they'll take steps to avoid that in the future. 

So I think we can prevent that from happening 

ain. I hope we can prevent that from happening again on 

e gas side. 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: It may be the nature of 

e beast that when consumers need energy the most, given 

ry, very cold temperatures, that the darn prices begin to 

ar. So the more they use, the prices have skyrocketed. 

d now they get whacked with huge bills. 

And conversely, you know, perhaps the same in 

e summertime. Although, you know, hopefully with 

ectric caps that you mentioned, that won't happen during 

ry hot times when perhaps the use of electricity is also 

aring. 

And it's just a matter of preparing for those 

entualities that I think this committee is interested in 

eing occur. And so I thank you for your interest. Thank 

u. 
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MR. POPOWSKY: And if I could just add to 

tat, there's also the demand side; that is, conservation 

id energy efficiency. I mean, one way to avoid paying the 

.ghest price for air-conditioning in the summer that some 

:ilities use is they actually pay their customers $5 or 

.0 a month for the ability to cycle down those 

.r-conditioners for 15 minutes an hour. 

The customers, I'm told at least, barely 

>tice that difference. And yet it reduces the cost that 

ie utilities have to pay for electricity at those peak 

>urs. So conservation and energy efficiency measures can 

.so help. 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you. 

spresentative Hennessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

lairman. Mr. Popowsky, Mr. Rosenthal spoke of the, I 

Less the unexpectedly high prices of natural gas in the 

immer refill season of 2000 as leading to the shortage 

>ing into the winter season. 

And then he talked about the fact that the 

>mpanies sort of sat on the capacity that, whatever they 

id in storage while they were trying to buy gas in January 

id February, I think what you call flowing gas prices. 

MR. POPOWSKY: Spot gas prices? 
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REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: No. I think it was 

owing. Well, yeah. He said they were electing to tap 

to their storage supply and sought to increase their 

rchases of flowing gas. I guess — it would seem to me 

at that's probably more defensible to do in January than 

' do in the beginning of March. 

Had they sat on their existing supply in March 

d still bought natural gas at higher prices, you know, 

rhaps we'd have something much more substantial to 

mplain about. Having done it in January, I think they 

ght defend and say, Well, we were trying to just make 

re we had adequate capacity to get through the rest of 

e winter if the flowing gas simply stopped flowing and 

came much more hard to acquire. 

MR. POPOWSKY: Well, I think certainly in 

itrospect, we would say that the gas utilities in the 

iring of 2000 that were hoping for the price to go down 

xned out to be wrong. But it's hard to say for me — I 

ian, I'd love to be able to say this with perfect 

ndsight — that I can therefore not let, not let them 

targe the prices on to the customers. 

I would like to be able to make that argument, 

it I can't. But the problem is that, as I recall, in the 

•ring of 2000, the prices were higher than normal for the 

•ring. And, and people expected, most folks expected 
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ices — the projections you would see showed prices going 

wn over the summer. 

And yet instead of going down, they went up 

d up and up. And then by the time the winter came, all 

ts were off basically because now you had everybody 

ying to buy, to buy gas and, across the nation at prices 

at every day reached, reached new heights. 

Now, fortunately, in Pennsylvania, that 

iesn*t mean that the price of gas that retail customers 

.w went from $2 to $10 because what customers pay 

.sically is sort of a 12-month rolling average of gas 

ices. So there was still a lot of the gas that was 

rchased before as well as this new high cost gas. 

So — but the prices gradually increased, 

lally substantially increased last winter. And just like 

>w, they're gradually going back down. But it's hard to 

y. But now, like I said, having seen that happen once, I 

link you could tell these utilities, Now wait a minute. 

iu saw what happened in the summer of 2000. You should 

:ver be in a position to let that happen, happen again. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: I guess that's 

Lere I really wanted to go because, you know, you led into 

ie discussion by saying that the natural gas system 

itered that winter with storage levels below historic, 

orage levels below historic levels, I guess, with 
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pacity or the storage capacity below — no — the actual 

ount of the storage below historic levels. 

Should there be a level set? I mean, should 

y, any company go into the winter season without, say, 50 

rcent of its projected needs already in supply, already 

storage? Or are we just — we'd be overreaching if we 

nt to try and regulate that? 

MR. POPOWSKY: I think that, that that's part 

what the Commission — well, it is part of what the 

mmission looks at each year; in other words, in terms of 

ether the company is managing their gas portfolio 

operly. 

And I actually don't think that the storage 

oblem was as big a problem in Pennsylvania as it was in 

me other states. But the market is a national market. 

d people were really — you know, the gas that was being 

ught in those months was being bought at ridiculous, at 

diculous prices. And it really increased the 

nnsylvania prices substantially. 

But you're right. There is a — it would be 

rd, though, to say in a statute, I think, to say this is 

e proper amount of storage. It is something, I think, 

ough, that the Commission can say in an annual proceeding 

ere we take a look at the reasonableness of the company's 

s procurement practices. 
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And if the Commission finds that: they had 

adequate storage, then they should be allowed, they 

ould disallow some of the costs. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Well, in looking 

ck on it, could they do that? I mean, if we — we 

arted this discussion by saying they were below historic 

vels. Is that a point for inquiry that ought to be made? 

MR. POPOWSKY: It's a point for inquiry. And 

.e question is, the question that we have to face is we 

.ve to say, looking at it at the time the decision was 

de, was that a reasonable decision at the time the 

cision was made? We're not allowed to go back and say, 

iu know, in retrospect that was a bad decision. 

But it's a close call; that is, if there were 

>me companies that really were — well, if there were any 

impanies that were negligent, then we would, or imprudent, 

ien we would reduce their rates by that amount. On the 

her hand, if the Commission finds that, given the 

Lowledge at the time, the companies were acting prudently, 

ien you can't disallow that cost. You have to allow them 

» recover them from consumers. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: It just seems, you 

iOW, rather coincidental. It probably was coincidental. 

t at a time that, you know, the amount of natural gas we 

ve stored away for a cold winter is at a historically low 

JENNIFER P. McGRATH, RPR 
(570) 622-6850 

mallen
Rectangle



122 

vel, we enter the coldest winter of record. You know, 

d I'm — you know, there may be nothing nefarious about 

at. 

But I'm just wondering if we ought to sit 

ere and say if we're going to use 100 million cubic feet 

natural gas over the course of a regular winter, we 

ght to go in with half of that already in supply, in 

orage. 

MR. POPOWSKY: My guess is they probably did 

ve at least half of it in supply. Probably the next 

tness, Mr. Love, who represents the gas utilities, can 

obably speak more as to what they did have. Like I said, 

make those kind of arguments all the time. 

And the test is, Well, that's fine for you, 

. Popowsky, to sit here in, you know, November 2001 and 

y that these companies should have bought more gas in 

ril 2000. The question is, What was the reasonable thing 

do in April 2000 given the gas supplies and projections 

the time? 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. Thank you. 

ank you, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Representative Blaum. 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: Just a follow-up to 

presentative Hennessey's question of what is reasonable 

that time. And that's understandable, you know, that 
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e, that they make at that point in time a reasonable 

cision. But the Representative's question might be based 

the reasonable decisions they were making were on a 

tuation that was not well prepared for. 

Is that taken into consideration? Not only 

e fact that people were making reasonable decisions in 

fficult times, but is it also taken into account that you 

ren't adequately prepared? 

MR. POPOWSKY: I think, again, that argument 

uld be made. And then the counter argument is, Well, 

is was the perfect storm. Everything that could go wrong 

nt wrong. And people did not foresee it. But you're 

ght. That's a fair argument. 

It's a lot fairer argument to make today for 

is winter and for next winter because now people have 

en what happens, what can happen. And they should be 

tter prepared. And I think — I believe they will be. 

t you're right. 

The utilities, they have to plan for, you 

ow, the coldest day in 10 years, the coldest day in 100 

ars. You plan for certain eventualities. But I at 

ast have never seen anything like what happened last 

nter — I have to admit — in the gas market. 

And I've been working here since 1979. I 

dn't seen anything like that. But it's certainly 
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mething that, now that we've seen, we better be prepared 

i deal with. 

CHAIRPERSON BLAUM: And your analogy is 

11-taken. I mean, all morning I was thinking of the 

rfect storm, you know, that this was a confluence of 

rcumstances that occurred. You know, we all need to be 

tter prepared for something close to those difficult days 

cause I think when we're not, everyone suffers, the 

dustries all suffer, the regulatory agencies suffer in 

e minds of the people because they believe just as their 

eds are increasing dramatically, they believe they're 

ing gouged. 

And if that was the case, then action needs to 

taken. If that was not the case, that this was just a 

rfect, the perfect storm, that everybody did do their 

st, then, you know, then the people need to be told that 

d so that confluence, you know, does not suffer. Thank 

iu, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Mr. Popowsky, we heard 

me testimony a little bit earlier that there was some 

mcern about the folks that generate electricity, that 

ey are, most of the generating stations that they're 

ilding now are going to use gas and that there was going 

i be a substantial increase in demand for natural gas as a 

isult of that. 
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I guess you can infer from that either it 

uld be a price consequence if you have these generating 

ations going on line and using a tremendous amount of 

s. Do you have any thoughts on that, or do you foresee 

y problems there? 

MR. POPOWSKY: Yeah. I think that that is the 

ggest, that's probably my biggest concern for the future. 

suming everything works properly, we still are going to 

ve to face the question of how much, how much we're 

ginning to rely on natural gas. 

From the projections that I've seen, at least 

at are being published by the Department of Energy, the 

lerican Gas Association, they seem to be fairly confident 

at they can meet the, meet the demand for gas without the 

al price of gas increasing much more than it is today; in 

her words, not $10 but more like $3. 

Now, you have to add inflation to that. But 

ose are the projections that at least the industry is 

tting out and that are being put out in Washington. 

at's even assuming that there's a lot of gas plants 

ilt. Now, like I said, I find it difficult to predict 

e price of gas, you know, next week. 

So it's much harder to predict the price of 

s 20 years from now. But it's certainly the biggest 

ncern. And I think particularly because of the impact in 
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e winter, if a lot of electric generation is being used, 

we rely so much on natural gas generation in the winter, 

. the coldest day of the year, you may, on that day, you 

y not have enough gas to both serve all the essential 

man needs, you know, residences, schools, hospitals, and 

lerate all the electric generation that you might want to 

ierate on that day. 

So I'm sure that that's something that folks 

PJM are looking at. And it's the thing we have to keep 

r eye on. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: It seems to be, I guess, 

little bit ironic because the gas is transmitted long 

stances. I think the fields are down in the southwest. 

i there's a liberal number of transmission you can only 

ansmit so far. 

And I guess these pipelines are extremely 

pensive to build and probably difficult under today's 

rcumstances. But it can be stored. Electricity can't be 

ored if the generator has to be used as it's generated. 

id yet the item that can be stored and held aside for the 

.nter seems to have the greatest impact on Pennsylvania 

msumers in terms of, you know, heating their homes, which 

i critical during a cold winter. 

And when we had — we had testimony that we 

ive, in the summertime when we have a high demand for 
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ectricity, frequently the price doesn't fluctuate that 

ch. 

MR. POPOWSKY: Yeah. The price — well, first 

all, you're absolutely right. The big difference is 

orage for electricity. That's why I say the question is 

it so much whether you have the gas but whether you'11 be 

ile to run that electric power plant because the supply of 

ectricity at every moment of every day has to, the supply 

LS to exactly equal the demand. 

So when you flip that switch, there is some 

.ant there, somebody there to provide service. So — and 

iu can't store it. Gas — you're right — can be stored. 

. can be transported by large, in large distances. It can 

s transported to specific places more easily than 

.ectricity. 

So I think at least it's a solvable problem; 

iat is, you can build more storage, you can build more 

.pelines, you can drill for more gas. And I think that's 

iat the folks in Washington and the gas industry believe 

.11 happen. 

There are price spikes in electricity at the 

tolesale level in the winter. I think what Ms. Taylor was 

Lying is that the PJM has just been very successful in 

stting a lot of buyers and sellers into that market so 

iat it's been only on rare occasions when our PJM 
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olesale prices have reached those kind of crazy levels 

at you used to, that we were seeing every day in 

lifornia a year or so ago. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Do you know — this may 

a stupid question — is there a cap on the amounts that 

n be charged for transmission of gas as there is with 

ectricity? 

MR. POPOWSKY: Well, I don't think it's quite 

curate to say there's a cap on either. I think the 

ansmission of gas and the transportation of 

ectricity — 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Tariff, tariff? 

MR. POPOWSKY: Yeah, there's a tariff. 

actly. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Is there a cap on the 

riff? 

MR. POPOWSKY: Yeah. The prices that can be 

arged by interstate natural gas pipelines are regulated 

the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. The prices 

at are charged by transmission companies for the 

terstate transmission of electricity are also regulated 

the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. 

The reason for that is both of those systems 

ve, still have natural monopoly characteristics. You 

n't want to build 5 sets of power lines down Front Street 
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Harrisburg. That's a distribution line. But if you 

member when they tried to build the power line from 

ttsburgh to Harrisburg to Three Mile Island a few years 

o, GPU tried to build a power line. And the real problem 

s the, was the inability to get the power line sited. 

But in any case, the price that can be charged 

r transmission is regulated by the FERC. The price that 

n be charged for transportation of gas is regulated by 

e FERC because those are still effectively, for the most 

rt, monopoly services. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: I just — and you talked 

little bit about the price cap that we have for the 

nsumer electricity. And it would seem to me that, you 

ow, if that expires or if there's some effort to raise 

at cap, that this transmission issue comes into play, 

is, this congestion issue comes into play more. 

That would in effect — well, the one side, 

u'd have the cap lifted off the consumer. You'd have 

re competition and more people coming in. But on the 

her side, you'd have this congestion which would really, 

my view, cause a tremendous price increase because 

ere'd be fewer, the smaller generators couldn't get into 

e marketplace because of the lack of transmission 

pacity. 

MR. POPOWSKY: Well, again, I think my sense 
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that the smaller generators can and will get in because 

ere you're talking about, you know, those dots on the 

p. The — to get onto the grid, they just have to 

terconnect with the grid. 

They can get — once they get onto the grid 

.rough that interconnection, they can sell, they can sell 

wer. Now, it's true that if there are constraints from 

:st to east, you're less likely to want to build a power 

ant to the west of that constraint than you are to the 

.st of the constraint. And that's, that's the way the PJM 

stem is designed to work. 

In terms of building — and PJM does have a 

gional transmission expansion plan, which I think is 

tother one of their great features, which is that they 

itually can determine where transmission is needed, at 

iast for reliability purposes, on a regional basis. But 

i PJM does do that. 

And now, the problem I think may occur when 

iu want to build a long power line. And there, I don't 

link the problem so much is that the, whether you get a 12 

ircent rate of return or a 15 percent rate of return. The 

obiem is whether you have the ability to site that line. 

It's the — it's very difficult to site a, a 

iw transmission line for — but that's for environmental 

id social reasons, not because the rate of return is not 
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gh enough. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Okay. Thank you very 

ch for appearing before the committee today and providing 

with insight into the energy situation from the consumer 

andpoint. We appreciate it very much. 

MR. POPOWSKY: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Our next, our next 

tness is Mr. Michael Love, President and CEO of Energy, 

e Energy Association of Pennsylvania. Welcome, Mr. Love. 

d you may begin when you're ready. 

MR. LOVE: Chairman Gannon, members of the 

mmittee, thank you for hearing my testimony. I know the 

ur is late and we're running somewhat behind. So I'm not 

ing to go into my prepared comments in the length that I 

s going to. 

But instead, I would like to try to address 

me of the questions you've been raising specifically so 

at we can get to the meat of some of this. First of all, 

at happened last year on natural gas prices, which seems 

me to be the thrust of this resolution. I want to talk 

out that for a minute. 

What you heard Mr. Rosenthal talk about was 

at happened nationally. And all the things he talked 

out did happen nationally. Now let's look at locally. 

e Pennsylvania gas utilities, to the extent that they 
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ve storage, went in with the same level of storage last 

ar as they went in the year before and are going in this 

ar, which was an extremely high level of storage. 

However, the other gas entities across the 

ited States did not do that. They went in with a 

gnificantly lesser amount of storage than did their 

nnsylvania counterparts. Now, they did so for a variety 

reasons, ones that what the consumer advocate rightfully 

ferred to as the perfect storm. 

They had seen increase in use of natural gas 

neration that had been used during the summertime that 

t pressure heretofore unforeseen on storage nationwide in 

s in the summertime. They saw rising prices when usually 

ere were falling prices. 

And so it was their decisions — because 

ain, gentlemen, this is a national market — those 

cisions on storage elsewhere helped drive up the price 

tionally. The other thing that helped drive up the price 

ross the board, including Pennsylvania, was higher than 

rmal winter weather and higher than warmer summer 

ather. 

The latter is important because that increased 

e electrical usage which increased the usage of gas at a 

me when it didn't normally occur. And on the wintertime 

riod, as the consumer advocate mentioned, you make 
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cisions. You use spot prices; you use contract prices; 

d you use gas from storage. 

When the severe winter started to occur early 

ross the United States, everyone started using gas out of 

orage because spot prices were already so high. And 

ying to lock in any of these natural gas prices that were 

ready high did not seem to make sense either. 

So I want to specifically say — you're 

ying, What can I do about Pennsylvania? What I'm saying 

your local gas distribution companies, to the extent 

ey had storage, had them at the levels that they had 

ways historically had. They used wise reasoned judgment, 

judgment that was reviewed and found to be prudent at the 

me. 

Now, we've had some reference about 

lifornia. And California, sadly, plays a part in what 

ppened in Pennsylvania and across the nation as far as 

s prices. California, not only besides having a very 

upid legislative group compared to our distinguished 

ople in Pennsylvania, also had — 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: We thank you very 

ch for that. 

MR. LOVE: Well, I'm just saying is that they 

de a series of mistakes and had made a series of 

stakes. The industry, the regulators, and the 
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gislators out there have not built things. And so what 

ppened is during the particular time during 2000, they 

nted natural gas for new generation they were building 

zause they were facing blackouts. And they needed 

tural gas for heating and cooking. And it was competing. 

And the sorry state of affairs and maybe some 

uity is that as bad as gas prices were in Pennsylvania, 

California they were far worse, far worse. They paid 

en 50 percent more above what we paid because they were 

sically saying, they were totally out there on the spot 

rket going, We'll take anything we can get. 

And that's part of the problem, what happens 

en you don't plan. And so California was driving the 

ice of natural gas up everywhere because of their 

ortsighted planning. 

Now, you're concerned — and rightfully so, as 

/body would be after seeing what happened — in terms of 

ices. And Sonny just got done saying — I just want to 

int this out, and I know other speakers are going to 

int it out. 

In my published remarks that I've brought, 

ve brought to you a look at the natural gas prices back 

my Exhibit B. You can look at A and B. And we'll talk 

out both of them. But what you see there is that in 

rms of natural gas, there was clearly 10 years of a very 
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atic price. 

So the customers in Pennsylvania and across 

e nation have seen a very stable natural gas price. And 

en there was a horrible time period, the perfect storm 

at we've been referring to. And now you see that for 

01, those prices have come down. 

If I take you to Exhibit A, you can see that 

ck in November of last year, things were at $4.77 in 

llion cubic feet. That rose as high as 9.64. And now we 

nd ourselves at 2.19. So prices, as things happen in the 

rket, respond. 

Now, going to — and just so we're also clear, 

e gas companies in the state of Pennsylvania have all 

led and had approved rate decreases of significant 

gnitude. And all of those rate decreases are in effect 

r the holidays for the winter heating season. 

So the rates that will be charged this winter 

11 be a fraction of what they were last winter as far as 

e cost of gas is concerned. So — and that is very, very 

od news for the consumers of the state of Pennsylvania. 

d I want to stress to you, as you look at Exhibit B and 

hibit A, that you'll see that while gas prices did spike 

year ago — and I'm not trying to minimize that — that 

at was clearly an aberration from a 10-year time period 

very stable gas prices; and furthermore, that that 

JENNIFER P. McGRATH, RPR 
(570) 622-6850 

mallen
Rectangle



136 

ability, that low cost has returned to the state of 

nnsylvania as well as the nation at this current time. 

Last year, a lot of things hit. A robust 

onomy was going on, colder than normal winter 

mperatures, and some of the planning that had been failed 

be done or should have been done in California. Those 

ctors, with the possible exception of California, are not 

esent this year. 

Now, there's been also some discussion — and 

ybe some of us were confused in the room because energy 

s used in the bill. And so that has led us into some 

scussion about electric and gas. And I want to make sure 

at we distinguish the 2. 

I would point out that Pennsylvania can feel 

ry good. As Sonny just got done telling you, is that our 

ectric rates are lower today than they were back in 1996. 

ain, whether one talks about gas or one talks about 

ectric rates, I think you should find that Pennsylvania's 

ectric and gas utilities are charging stable energy 

tes. And we are concerned. 

And I concur with what Sonny has raised in 

rms of wanting to see more state help for LIHEAP programs 

d such where possible so that you help those people that 

e least likely to deal with large changes in the price of 

pply in the future. And that's something that would be 
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value. 

Now, we've had a lot of discussion about 

ansmission lines. And I want to talk about them both 

om an electric standpoint and a gas standpoint. On the 

ectric side, I think it's fair to say — and there was a 

ference given to an attempt that was made a number of 

ars ago — is that the most difficult problem has not 

en that electric companies have not tried to build 

ansmission lines; but rather, there has been 

traordinary difficulties in getting siting approval 

roughout the United States for transmission lines. 

Transmission lines by their very nature are 

de swaths through the countryside. And they go on for 

ngthy periods of time, and they're very critical. You 

n't have — and you are deficient if you believe — you 

n't have just solid generation. 

You need transmission, and you need 

stribution. Just like a car. It's just not the tune-up. 

u have to keep the wheel alignment. You got to keep the 

res pressured. You got to keep it all in shape, not just 

e aspect of it. 

The electric companies would love to build 

re transmission line. And the President, in his energy 

licy, has very forthrightly stated that one of the key 

aknesses of our country at this present time is the fact 
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at we do not have a transmission line infrastructure 

at *s been built in either electric or gas to meet the 

eds that we need in the future. 

And that's going to force us all to make some 

ugh choices because, as I said before, the biggest 

fficulty has been in siting. It's not been in 

clination. It's been in siting. 

In terms of gas transmission lines, if we're 

ing to have — since at this point in time gas has been 

osen as the most likely to be built energy supply source 

r generation, we are going to have to build more natural 

s transmission lines. 

And again, that's going to come from 

vestment decisions, siting decisions, and whether we're 

ing to be willing to build those gas transmission lines. 

ose are issues. The transmission line picture is the one 

at FERC is wrestling with both on a gas and electric 

sis, and the Congress is. 

That's where the discussion has come in on the 

ergy bill as to whether the federal government can 

percede the states in terms of siting because of the 

fficulty in building transmission lines. Now, I'm not 

ing to try to complicate this discussion today by going 

to the pros and cons of that. But I'm saying that only 

mply to educate where we are in terms of a problem. 
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I understand and solute you, Representative, 

r raising this as an issue. Obviously, constituents are 

ing to be concerned when they see the mammoth increase 

at went up last year. And I don't want to dismiss that 

ncern one iota. It's a legitimate concern. 

What I'm simply trying to say is, in answer to 

think it was Representative Blaum's question, I think a 

t of steps have been taken. There are more gas pipelines 

ing built across the United States than there has been in 

e past. 

And in terms of new well sites, during the 

st year, there have been an extraordinary amount that 

ve been built that have not been undertaken in prior 

ars. However, with the declining price that I've shown 

u on Exhibit A, that, again, could influence how many 

lis come on board in the future. 

So again, it's the questions of supply and 

mand. We'll have to see how that comes. But I think 

at you can take pride in the fact that the Pennsylvania 

s distribution companies did, unlike their counterparts 

ross the United States, manage their storage capacity in 

very, very responsible way. 

And they had anticipated more so than others 

at was going on and did responsibly respond. However, 

en they, even we, even you cannot control national events 
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en national factors start to affect national markets. 

d gas is a national market. 

And I hope my comments, together with what 

ve submitted in writing, details a number of the things. 

t again, I would reinforce that the gas utilities in the 

ate of Pennsylvania have filed for and received approval 

significantly reduce the gas rates in a significant 

shion from what they were last year. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you, Mr. Love. 

presentative Browne. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Thank you for your testimony today. You 

d — and I credit you for this — you mentioned that the 

ilities have applied for lower rates for this winter for 

tural gas consumers. 

You also mentioned how the rates themselves of 

ow will — excuse me — may create some of the problems 

had in the past regarding planning for the future and 

veloping new sites for supply. Is there any correlation 

ere? Would it be best to use this opportunity as, from 

e industry's standpoint, as a way to plan for the future 

ther than putting ourselves in the same situation? 

MR. LOVE: Again, we have to be careful when 

use the term industry. We are the tail end. We're the 

stribution system. We are not the ones that are in the 
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ploration business, and we're not the ones that are in 

e development business. 

So — and what motivates those that are, and 

other speakers prior to me have said, you know, the 

llhead price, the price at where the wellheads are done 

s deregulated a long time ago. And those folks will 

spond to market prices. 

When prices are up, there will be more 

illing activity than there are when prices are down. I 

s just using that as a caution in trying to reference the 

ncern that you and others of the committee had stated 

out what is the likelihood of things happening in the 

ture. 

I just wanted to say to you that obviously 

rket forces do influence price and do influence activity. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Would it be 

appropriate to use that additional revenue in terms of 

e, the higher prices that are in place right now to build 

orage capacity? 

MR. LOVE: First of all, we need to make sure 

understand, as I think I saw in the comments of one of 

e speakers, that storage is usually built in rock or salt 

verns. So that, number 1, we have a geological 

mitation. 

Number 2, a lot of storage facilities have 
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en built. And Pennsylvania, as I think you heard from 

. Rosenthal, is third largest in terms of storage 

cilities. But you have to realize that, for example, 

ere's no storage facilities in all of New England. None. 

They have neither sought to put it anywhere 

r do they have the geological formations to allow it. 

d so many times, we're dealt different hands. And this 

comes a complicated issue to respond to. I think that 

at I'm trying to give you some assurance of is, from a 

nnsylvania standpoint, that our local distribution 

mpanies have kept and are keeping and will keep a very, 

ry high level of storage. 

And we're hopeful that others across the 

ited States have, as someone referenced, learned their 

sson and are keeping higher levels of storage as we did. 

t again, as national markets and what we do don't, 

esn't always influence what else goes on. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Your general opinion 

terms of those national, those national factors, the 

ctors of the way to exploration and development, is 

mething that Pennsylvania has no ability, through 

gulation or incentive, no ability to control? 

MR. LOVE: I think it's difficult to 

centivize national events. I think I heard one of the 

ior speakers talk about that gas prices have to be, in 
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sence, 50 percent higher than they are today for you to 

courage more gas drilling in the state of Pennsylvania, 

r example. 

And while you might say, Well, I would like to 

e more gas drilling activity, I don't know that we'd want 

say to our ratepayers we'd necessarily want everybody to 

y 50 percent more for that said gas. I mean, those are 

e choices you get into. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Thank you very much. 

ank you. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Representative Hennessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Mr. Love, first of all, thank you for that 

arification because I was under the impression that we 

tered the winter of 2000/2001 at historically low levels 

storage. And I gather from what you're saying is that 

ybe the nation did but we were at a normal level of 

orage. 

MR. LOVE: That is correct. In Pennsylvania, 

s. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you very 

ch for that. Now, that being said, can you give us an 

ea — I mean, quantify that for me. Are we talking about 

e month's worth of natural gas usage for an average 

nter as our storage capacity? 
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Are we talking about 2 months; are we talking 

out 20 percent or 50 percent or 60 percent of our 

pected usage for an average winter? What kind of 

pacity — aside from the 728 billion cubic feet, what is 

at amount to, in terms of our ability to withstand a 

rmal winter? 

MR. LOVE: Representative, I don't know if I 

ve the answer to that question specifically. And if I 

member correctly from my research that's back at the 

fice, that it varies depending on the gas company that 

u're talking about. But I'd be happy to provide that 

formation to you. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Well, just as a 

le of thumb, is it — what's prudent? Is it to enter the 

nter season with half of the natural gas that we're going 

need? 

MR. LOVE: No, no. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Nowhere near that 

gh or — 

MR. LOVE: No, you would never have that much. 

u would be down in the 10 to 20 percent range that you 

uld have in storage. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. One other 

estion about your graph here, Exhibit B I think. If we 

nt back another 10 or 15 years, would the prices be 
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aditionally low? Or is there a, you know, some sort of 

cle here that every 10, 15, or 20 years there is some 

rt of spike? 

My guess would be that it would be relatively 

w, you know, as far back as we might want to look. 

MR. LOVE: I can certainly speak to the time 

riod of 1980 to 1990. And you would have found it to be 

that same flat level. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Which sort of 

inforces the argument that this is such an aberration, 

at we see it as such, ought to see it as such. On the 

estion of transmission, improving the transmission lines 

th for natural gas and for electricity — and this will 

und like a very elementary comparison — but if I have a 

arter-inch size, quarter-inch diameter hose that I'm 

ying to water my garden with and I want more water, I 

ange the size of the hose. 

I mean, I could go to another faucet in my 

use and run another hose and put it, you know, put a 

fferent, a totally different line in, a different hose 

But it's more likely that I would increase the size of 

e hose to a half-inch diameter or 3/4-inch diameter to 

mply carry more water. 

The earlier witness said it's going to take 2 

cades, perhaps, as an estimate, to try to put a new line 
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But what about the usage of the existing transmission 

nes, transmission rights of way and simply expanding 

eir capacity to carry either electricity or natural gas? 

mean, is that being done? And if not, why isn't it? 

MR. LOVE: All right. I believe your previous 

tness that was talking to you about the problem of siting 

ansmission lines and taking 20 years was talking about 

ectric transmission lines. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Right. 

MR. LOVE: Going to a pipeline, which is your 

ter hose analogy, I'm going to go to gas and talk about 

at for a minute. If you're asking the question, if there 

a 16-inch line, are people going in along existing right 

ways and either piggybacking that on to add another 

-inch to get to 32 or taking out the 16-inch to make it 

, the answer is yes. 

I mean, obviously, that's one of the problems 

at occurs because unlike your water hose analogy, the 

re correct analogy would be, if you think about pipelines 

ross the United States, would be a 16-inch going down to 

8 going up to a 16 going down to a 6 going up to 

atever. 

Effectively, you're wiring your weakest link 

that example. It's, in essence, a 6-inch line for the 

tire time period. And that's why the focus has been 
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ying to eliminate those gas line bottlenecks where there 

a, if you will, smaller hose in your analogy. And that 

rk is going on during existing right of ways. 

And there are projects currently going on in 

nnsylvania and elsewhere to expand the capacity. And 

so, sometimes the better course of value is to piggyback, 

t necessarily take out the entire line because that can 

disruptive because you have current service off of it. 

stead, to use that existing right of way to add a line on 

P-

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: I guess the only 

estion I would want to follow up with that is the 

rlier witness — and I forget who it was — sort of 

ggested that perhaps these tariff caps that the Federal 

ergy Regulatory Commission has in place has inhibited 

— yeah — has kept that, that kind of upgrade from 

ppening. 

But you're saying it's happening anyway just 

a matter of ultimate overall demand. 

MR. LOVE: Okay. I was talking about — my 

scussion was gas transmission lines. I would concur with 

e prior witness, who I think was the representative from 

M. Ms. Taylor, I think, quite correctly indicated that 

e construction of transmission capacity on the electric 

de is a very, very serious problem for the United States. 
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And some of the obstacles that have been there 

primarily, probably number one, siting. It has become 

ry difficult to site a transmission line. To use the 

alogy, I think, that if you approach the public, they 

ually are more willing to have a power plant sited in 

eir backyard than they are a transmission line. 

I'm not saying it's right or wrong, but I'm 

ying it's unfortunately been experienced. Litigation 

er siting of long transmission lines which go over 

ndreds of miles takes much longer than generation, and 

at has in and of itself been an inhibition. 

The other thing is that the current situation, 

at happens if you're trying to move power from Ohio to 

w York City and you're going to be going through a lot of 

fferent companies and each one of them adds a rate on to 

e transmission of the energy, that's called pancaking. 

That's what the Federal Energy Regulatory 

mmission's trying to do by eliminating pancaking by going 

the regional transmission organizations or regional 

Os. They're trying to have a larger transmission entity 

sed on PJM as a model. 

But they're trying to do that so that they can 

iminate this incentive of pancaking and also actually 

dress siting issues and also address transmission 

acement. So I want to concur with the representative 
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om PJM in saying the transmission construction, which you 

so heard from Mr. Biden, is truly one of the biggest 

oblems we have today because it does act as an obstacle 

om moving lesser cost power from one part of the country 

another part because at different times, whether we're 

ving storms, aberrations in price, some generators trying 

use their muscle, you want to have the availability of 

inging power in. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: But does it impact 

tural gas companies, natural gas industry differently 

an the electric? Because in electric, she was saying 

at the tariff caps are keeping us from increasing that 

pacity. And yet I think I heard you say that the natural 

s industry is increasing the capacity in spite of those 

riff caps. Maybe the impacts are different. 

MR. LOVE: What I was trying to address is, 

rst of all, it's easier to site a transmission gas main 

derground than it is to site a transmission electric line 

ove ground. That has just been a historical fact, and 

at"s true for a variety of reasons. 

Some of them have to do with checks, some have 

do with siting, environmental litigation. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. I 

derstand. Thank you very much. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Just a follow-up on the 
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presentative's question. I would disagree that the right 

way is treated a little bit differently with the gas 

ne than overhead power line. You can squeeze maybe 2 or 

pipelines in there, whereas I don't know if you could 

ggyback another power line over power line. 

MR. LOVE: It depends on the structure. There 

e instances where you can piggyback, and there are 

stances when you can expand. But there are also 

estions of sometimes local law, sometimes state law, 

metimes federal law that are much more stringent in terms 

environmental considerations as well as others when you 

al with electric. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: It seems to me 

at — going back to this problem that we had with these 

ice spikes of last winter — that the problem really 

arted much earlier than winter. Apparently, there 

s — I'm sensing that there are a lot of plants out there 

w that are using natural gas to generate electricity. 

And they apparently were using a lot of gas 

ring the summer. So they were using some of those 

orage capacity that they had to generate electricity. 

d at the same time, we saw the price of oil going up. I 

ess a lot of those plants can convert over to oil or gas, 

pending on prices. 

It seemed that by the time they got into the 
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titer season, there was no, there was no cost savings by 

nverting over to oil even though the price of gas was 

ing up; in other words, they were both going up at the 

me time. 

I guess the idea is they were fluctuating 

ing back and forth. And it seemed that we saw both high 

troleum costs and then the high, the high gas prices. 

d there really wasn't the ability economically to go to 

1. So you had to stay with gas, which further drove the 

ice up. And the price of oil was going up. 

Am I making sense? It's kind of what I'm 

nsing, picking up was going on. 

MR. LOVE: Representative, I think you are 

uching on a very important point that I want to go back 

d reinforce. Certainly — and I think there's a speaker 

ter me that may be more enlightened on this than I am. 

t I would say that's historically been the case, that gas 

d oil prices often work in tandem with one another, is 

at when one goes up, the other goes up. 

And if you remember back then, I mean, if you 

n remember back to January of 2001, we were, at times, 

Iking about the price at the pump being $3 a gallon. And 

w if you go out there, you can find it at 99 cents a 

lion. 

So market forces do work, and they do create 

JENNIFER P. McGRATH, RPR 
(570) 622-6850 



152 

errations at times. I think the choice that was being 

de is that there are numerous industrial customers across 

e United States that do have the choice of operating with 

ther electricity, that they can get their electricity, or 

ey can get their energy supply either from oil or from 

s. And they were making choices. 

And then after a while, when both started 

ing up, there was a problem in terms of choice, certainly 

terms of yes, there was generation out there that was 

pacting this whole situation. But if you really want to 

back in time, the way we got ourselves into a problem is 

at there had not been enough of a spread or enough 

couragement over the past decade for wellheads to be dug 

d natural gas exploration to be encouraged. 

Sadly, that came about only when the price 

iked up. And all of a sudden, there was encouragement. 

d all of a sudden, the number of wellheads being dug 

amatically increased. And I can send you information on 

at activity as to how much wellheads were, happened in 

ch of the years, just like I gave you this information, 

that would be helpful. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Would it be fair to say 

w what's going on — we're reading in the press that the 

1-producing countries in Russia and in the Middle East 

e now getting together and trying to reduce production to 
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ise the price of oil. 

Will that have an impact? If that's 

ccessful, would that, as a matter of course, increase the 

ice of natural gas? In other words, we'll go into 

is — are they close enough that we could go into that 

nd of a cycle again? 

MR. LOVE: Well, let's go back. Right now, 

1 prices are probably at one of the lowest levels they've 

en in some time. And this is in a free-fall situation. 

e marketplace is driving down the price of oil 

ecipitously. 

What you're seeing right now between the 

deastern countries, the OPEC nations trying to influence 

ecifically Russia and Mexico, is that they're trying to 

t them to curtail some of the production so that they 

n, if you will, halt a downward decline and try to 

lster it some. 

But again, remember, this is a free-falling 

wnward thing that they're trying to stop. And if 

timately they were successful or if, because of some 

rrorist activity or whatever, the price of oil started to 

up again significantly, yes, that would ultimately have 

impact on the price of natural gas. You're right. 

But what I'm saying to you is, first of all, 

1 is at a level that, it's lower than it's been in a 
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ng, long, long time. And again, that's market forces at 

rk. And right now, what they're trying to do with Russia 

d Mexico is just try to stop the slide. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: When we were debating 

is, this legislation, this resolution to look into 

is — this was March of 2001 — prices were still pretty 

gh in, I think, February. By March, there started to be 

me decline. April started to see some decline. 

But one of the issues was the word that was 

ed, price gouging. And I guess under a market economy, 

u expect companies and people to take advantage of market 

nditions. But we saw prices $3 a gallon for gas, natural 

s, to $9. 

Normally, I would expect when you see this 

ea of supply and demand — I don't think this happens in 

vacuum — but if you see the demand go up and then, of 

urse, production increases to meet the demand, there's 

ually cost involved in increasing production. 

I'm thinking of a factory. All of a sudden, a 

oduct becomes extremely popular and there's a big demand 

r it. There's a cost factor that will go into that. 

at will increase your cost of that, of that product. 

at happens in this industry is, in other words, you have 

mething that's not made. 

Gas was made millions of years ago. It's 
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tting there. It just has to be drawn out and then sent 

its market. You have — somebody has to dig it out of 

e ground, pump it out of the ground. Somebody has to 

ansmit it to the market. 

Then you give it to the market; and somebody 

lis it to the consumer, who uses it. You know, what 

ctors come into play other than simply — is it just 

mply demand and supply that cause this price to go from, 

y, $2 to $9 or from 99 cents or $1 to $3? 

So that, you know, that somebody along that, 

ong that chain of, of production and transmission and 

lling is making an awful lot of money out of a situation 

opposed to also seeing cost increase from their end, you 

ow, their profit. 

Maybe they're making a little bit more. But, 

u know, it's within reason. So there isn't this, quote, 

ice gouging going on. 

MR. LOVE: All right. Let's address the 

estion of price gouging because it's a fair question. 

rst of all, let me reiterate what you heard from the 

nsumer advocate and I will reiterate to you and you heard 

om the Commission as well. 

Your gas distribution companies, your People's 

s, your Equitable, your Dominion, they did not make any 

re money because the price was at 2.19 versus 9.634 in 
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f. They are merely recovering the cost of whatever the 

oduct is. So you can understand that the consumer 

vocate, the Commission, utilities involved in the state 

Pennsylvania, no one is making more money there. So 

at's something we can put aside. 

Now, Sonny addressed it in his testimony; and 

11 address it in mine. I'm not cognizant that FERC has 

und that anybody was price gouging in natural gas in the 

rkets that serve Pennsylvania. I do know that they found 

e potential issue that they had with one particular 

mpany, but that was one that was serving California. 

Other than that, I have not heard of price 

uging. So the question then, What went on? There was 

mand; there was supply. This is a demand and supply 

rket. The price got up sufficiently so that well sites 

at weren't economic at 2 or 3 all of a sudden became 

onomic at 5, 6, 7, 8, 9. That was part of it. 

That's not really price gouging. That's 

ally supply and demand as to what facilities, where you 

oose to dig. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Well, I think that goes 

to my cost of production factor. 

MR. LOVE: Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: So, you know, it's not 

rthwhile to, it's not economically viable to — and I 
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derstand that — to drill here because of where it is and 

tting labor there and the materials you need. And so now 

1 of a sudden, at $5 a cubic feet or a million cubic feet 

whatever that is, now that becomes — 

MR. LOVE: Attractive. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: But now your supply is 

ing up because more gas is going into the market. 

MR. LOVE: And concomitantly, price went down 

ce the supply went up. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: And they shut down those 

lis now — 

MR. LOVE: Supply and demand is a — 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Now I understand. 

w I understand. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: By the way, 

presentative Hennessey is going to have an announcement 

ter the meeting. He is going to build a gas generating 

ation over the Capitol Building so we can make use of 

at hot air. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: We can use some hot 

r in here. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Well, thank you very 

ch, Mr. Love, for your testimony. It's been very, very 

lpful and instructive on this aspect — 

MR. LOVE: Thank you for the opportunity. 
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CHAIRPERSON GANNON: — on energy costs and 

stribution in Pennsylvania. Our next witness, 

tnesses — I'm sorry — next witnesses, Rayola Dougher 

d John Felmy — 

MR. FELMY: I'm the computer operator. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: — Senior Policy Analyst 

th the American Petroleum Institute. And you may proceed 

en you're ready. 

MS. DOUGHER: Mr. Chairman, members of the 

mmittee, thank you for inviting me here today. The 

lerican Petroleum Institute is a National Trade 

sociation. We have over 400 member companies 

presenting all aspects of the petroleum and natural gas 

dustry in the United States. 

I do have a prepared statement, but I thought 

iat I'd do is just run through a few slides to highlight 

>me of the points I made in my statement. And we've 

ready covered a lot of material this morning. 

First of all, right at the start, I want to 

y that the changes in the prices that we have seen really 

e an indication of the interplay between supply and 

imand. And our experience with these fluctuations tells 

: the energy markets do work and petroleum markets do 

irk. 

In a long term, however, there are some 
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rious problems facing our industry that do need to be 

dressed. In the short term, as we've heard this morning, 

think the outlook is very encouraging for this winter 

ason. 

I'm going to start with my outline, just a 

ry brief quick overview of the energy in Pennsylvania and 

en proceed with a couple of slides just talking about 

troleum supply and demand and some of the key reasons for 

e price fluctuations we saw, talk a very little bit about 

ventories and prices, and wind up with some energy policy 

plications. 

I'm going to keep going, and the slides will 

tch up with me. Okay? Overview of energy in 

nnsylvania: You're the 6th largest state, the 7th ranked 

. terms of energy consumption. Your per capita energy 

nsumption ranked 39th. Total petroleum consumption, 

u're 6th. 

In terms of crude oil proved reserves, you 

ve less than 1 percent of the US total. You're 24th in 

1 production, 15,000 oil wells, 9 rotary rigs. You have 

refineries. You used to have 8 back in 1988. Now you 

ve 5. 4,900 gas stations. 

In terms of fuel types, the most important 

el you use is petroleum, 34 percent of your consumption, 

illowed by coal at 28 percent; nuclear, 18; natural gas, 
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The biggest sector using energy is the industrial at 

percent; transportation, 26; residential, 23; 

mmercial, 16. We're just going to fly through these. 

Here's — and one chart I have shows 

nnsylvania's energy consumption by sector and fuel type. 

u already know natural gas is very important in the 

sidential sector. It's the largest kind of fuel used by, 

homes, followed by petroleum and electricity. 

And you have a kind of mirror image in the 

mmercial sector. The industrial sector uses, as you 

ow, a lot of coal. And of course, transportation is 

rtually all petroleum. 

Now I'd like to turn to just some of the key 

asons to petroleum supply and demand and some of the 

asons for the fluctuations that occurred over the past 

ar. And the very key, the fundamental reason is we don't 

ve any excess refining capacity. Refineries are 

erating flat out. 

Since 1985, the demand just has not, has 

tstripped our ability to supply product. So right now, 

're importing 2 1/2 million barrels a day of product. 

is is 12 percent of US demand. The Department of Energy 

edicts that our imports will grow by about 140 percent 

er the next 20 years. 

And what happened — if we get the chart up 
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ere, we'll see it. But what happened during the '80s and 

to the '90s, there were huge investments required of 

fining, refineries, primarily to meet environmental 

andards. The return on the investment for that industry 

s about 4 percent for, I think, 17, 18 years. 

And what this meant is the smaller refineries 

at couldn't keep up shut down. We used to have 195 

fineries in the United States. We now have 152. And as 

said, in Pennsylvania, you had 8. Now you have 5. The 

es that are left aren't operating. They're maxed out. 

ey're really at the edge of where they can go. So that 

rt of sets the stage for us. 

Another important reason — oh, good. There's 

e chart. You can see, as we go up to the right there, 

at gap is just growing ever wider. Now, another 

portant reason, the next slide, is the proliferation of 

utique fuels in the United States. Different US 

risdictions require us to have different kinds of fuel to 

et environmental requirements. 

So we have 16 different kinds of gasoline in 

e United States. And these boutique fuels decrease the 

ility of the supply system to move gasoline from one area 

the country to another. So if you have any small change 

any little glitch in the system, that can cause an 

plosion in prices. And we saw that in the Midwest most 

JENNIFER P. McGRATH, RPR 
(570) 622-6850 

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle



162 

icently a year ago. 

So the next slide is really a summary of what 

.ny went over this morning, why our prices were higher 

trough the year. Basically, demand was greater than 

.pply. We approached the winter with stocks of heating 

.1 and diesel fuel that were lower than normal. 

Then, of course, the coldest weather in a 

cade hit us. The natural gas prices were very high, 

ich caused electric utility companies, the ones that 

>uld, to burn distillate fuels instead of the nabural gas. 

d so refiners were making record amounts of distillate 

el. They're not building inventories of gasoline because 

ey're making the distillate fuel. 

And then when spring comes, they routinely 

ke off time to do routine maintenance, which you have to 

i every year. So they got a late start making the 

.soline for the summer. And then we — our inventory was 

:nt to the lowest level in 40 years. 

So the production of gasoline was down 2 

ircent. The demand was up 2 percent. And this led to a 

ge price increase that we had in the spring. The next 

ide, the pink line shows prices in the US. And the blue 

for Pennsylvania starting in, starting in April. 

And you can see the peak in May at over $1.70 

gallon. And it started to decline as, as refiners rushed 
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oduct to market. And it peaked a little bit in the 

mmer as some of the summer driving season increased. And 

>w we're in a nosedive. We're at $1.10 in Pennsylvania, 

.15 nationwide for retail regular gasoline as of 

isterday. 

And a large reason for this is the fact that 

i now pay around $17 a barrel for crude versus $35 we paid 

.st year. So that has — that sharp drop on the right is 

(fleeted in the prices that we have for refined products. 

lis shows distillate fuel prices. Those 2 vertical lines 

. the right just brackets the past year. 

And if you look at the bottom, you can see 

ude oil prices where they were a year ago and where they 

e now. They're quite a bit lower. And this is passed on 

> retail heating oil, which was up and it's now quite a 

t less, and retail diesel, which was higher and now 

iwer. 

Here's a natural gas chart or numbers people 

ire talking about earlier. You can see that huge peak, 

That was back in January. And right now nationwide, 

i're at about $1.70 per million cubic feet. A year ago at 

lis time, it was around 5.60. So that's quite a bit less. 

These are slides from the Department of 

lergy's Energy Information Administration. Next slide, 

issil fuel prices to electric utilities. Coal was just 
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at throughout the year. But then you can see that 

sidual fuel oil was higher a year ago than it is now. 

d of course, the natural gas prices, too, are quite a bit 

wer. This is good news for consumers. 

And the next slide. With lower demand, too, 

"ve had increases in our inventories. And they're 

oking very good compared to a year ago. Nationally, 

ating oil inventories are up 23 percent from where they 

re a year ago. 

In the Mid-Atlantic states, they're 39 percent 

gher. Natural gas, 13 percent higher nationwide and 10 

rcent in the whole eastern region, higher than a year 

o. Gasoline in the Mid-Atlantic region, storage is 23 

rcent higher than a year ago. 

So all this is, is very good news for the 

ming season. And it's because of this — I'm sorry that 

at's a little unclear — the Department of Energy expects 

wer prices this season for all consumers. That just 

ves you an illustration. 

The very right-hand column shows, compares 

eir forecast from this year with last year. And they 

pect all refined products to be less for consumers than 

ey were. So in the short term, the outlook looks very 

od. In the long term, we do have some underlying 

oblems that need to be addressed. 
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We have to increase domestic production. 

• re becoming more and more dependent on oil imports. We 

w depend on — 60 percent of our oil demand is met by 

ports. We need to diversify our domestic and 

ternational sources of supply. 

We have to update and expand our energy 

frastructure. Our refining and delivery infrastructure 

stretched to the limit. And refiners would be required 

make massive investments over the next decade or so to 

pand their capacity to meet consumer demand. 

We haven't built a new refinery in over 20 

ars in the United States. Meanwhile, there's very 

mplex, time-consuming permitting requirements that impede 

e ability of refiners to expand or retrofit their 

cilities. And we need to simplify some of those rules 

d regulations. 

The clean air requirements have resulted in 16 

fferent types of fuel in the United States. We don't 

ed 16 different types of fuels. This makes it harder for 

with minor disruptions to get product to the right 

stomer at the right time. We need a lot fewer than that. 

Policymakers also need to determine the impact 

governmental decisions on our, on our energy security. 

have environmental impact statements. I think when we 

ve environmental rules and regulations, we should 
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nsider also the energy impact that these environmental 

les and regulations have on, on supplying energy to 

stomers. 

So in the short term, it looks very good. In 

e long term, we have some serious underlying problems. 

d unless we solve some of these, I think we will be due 

more severe disruptions in the future. Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you very much. It 

ems to me — I guess it's self-evident. I didn't mean to 

mp in ahead of you. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: That's all right. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: — that when prices are 

ke where they are right now, the spot market is very, 

ry good. 

MS. DOUGHER: It's great. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: But when prices are where 

ey were back in January of last year, the spot market is 

ry, very bad. As you were talking, I was sitting here 

ying to figure out how you can try to predict that. I 

an, people who have been doing this for years and years 

ssed the mark. 

MS. DOUGHER: Absolutely. I was looking at 

stimony over the summer — 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: There's more luck 

volved than there is skill in trying to make projections 
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to where the market is, is going to be. And I think one 

the members' questions, I think it was Representative 

aum, you know, this is going to happen again. And we 

st have to be better prepared for it. Even if we don't 

ow when it's going to happen, I think we should maybe 

.ve some things in place to deal with it. 

There was comment on the floor going into 

bate on this resolution that our refining capacity was 

>ing down and not up and that was causing some of the 

obiems that we were seeing and that we have some 

vironmental laws that severely hamper our ability to use 

,e energy resources that are available to us. 

I have a theory, which everybody knows. 

fty-seven million years ago, the dinosaurs ruled this 

.rth. There isn't one of them around anymore. And they 

ed it to whatever they wanted to do. And 57 million 

sars from now, we're not going to be here either. 

So I think we ought to use what God *s given us 

id, you know, and exploit it to, in a rational, reasonable 

y so that we enjoy our time while we are the dominant 

iecies. And there's some folks out there that spend most 

: their time trying to interfere with that. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Some people might 

gue that some of the dinosaurs are in the legislature. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Speak for yourself. But 
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was taking a lot more credit than I should have. I now 

arned that all these different economic factors come into 

ay. Transmission, production, distribution factors come 

to play, supply and demand. 

And here I thought — I introduced this 

solution on March 14th of 2001. And immediately after 

at, prices started to go down. So I was taking too much 

edit, more than I deserved. But I think this hearing, at 

ast this first hearing in a series, has been extremely 

lpful in understanding this issue, I think for myself and 

r the other members of the committee, in terms of what 

u are confronted with — I don't mean you individually 

t people that supply gas, oil, and electricity, and all 

e things that we use to make our lives better — and some 

the things that maybe we can do to help and not hinder 

d try to make sure that there's a plentiful supply and 

at it's at a reasonable cost. 

And hopefully, we won't see things like 

ppened last year occur again. Although, economic 

essures are probably going to come to bear that will 

use increases; and supply and demand will come into play 

ain. 

But I think that the President of the United 

ates is on track in terms of exploiting our own natural 

sources as much as we can rather than depending on 
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reign sources which are trying to come into play now. I 

an, we see in the press that OPEC is putting pressure on 

ssia and Mexico — I don't know what's happening down in 

uth America — to try to curtail production so that they 

n jack up the price. And that's going to affect us if 

ey're successful in doing that. 

Any questions? Representative Hennessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. How do you say your last name? 

MS. DOUGHER: It's Dougher. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Dougher. In one of 

ur charts, one of the, why were prices higher, first 

em — I don't know which chart it was. 

MS. DOUGHER: It's on page 3 of the handout. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: As winter 

proached last year, stocks of heating oil and diesel fuel 

re lower than usual. Now, we heard the same thing about 

tural gas. And the explanation I thought from natural 

s was that some of the natural gas was being diverted out 

i California, you know, for use in generating other fuel 

' they can get through their summer crisis or something. 

You know, is it coincidental that the natural 

s inventories being low is replicated by the, as we go 

to the winter, the same winter that oil stock storages 

e low? 
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MS. DOUGHER: I think high crude oil prices 

me into play with this. If the crude is very expensive, 

en you're not going to be adding to your stock when it *s 

rticularly high. So that was, that was part of, part of 

at was going on in terms of having lower inventory than 

e previous year. 

Prices last year were $35 a barrel for crude. 

ght now, they're 17. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Through the summer 

2000? 

MS. DOUGHER: Right, about a year ago. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: So in a sense, that 

gh price of crude was what generated or drove the lower 

orage levels in the same way that increased usage of 

tural gas for the, in the system drove the — 

MS. DOUGHER: Right. If you have — if prices 

e higher, there's no real incentive to build up your 

.ventory at that point. You'd like to build up the 

.ventory when prices are sort of lower and coming down. 

i that's what we're seeing now. 

We have a great stock of inventory because 

mand has come down. And so the prices are lower. And it 

kes good business sense. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: And the high price 

crude last summer, was that what drove people to use 
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tural gas for generating electricity in some of those 

eas of the country that needed it so badly? 

MS. DOUGHER: No. I think the natural gas 

ed was just part of a hotter, a hotter season than 

rmal. And the natural gas was used to fuel electricity. 

d I think that that's what increased the natural gas 

mand in the summer. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: One other question 

at bothers me. The spikes that we see, especially the 

e spike, in natural gas prices went up and then came down 

most precipitously within maybe a 3- or 4-month period. 

w, something like that is not caused, that relief is not 

used by bringing new plants on line. 

You can't do that in a 3- or 4-month period, I 

uld think. And part of that, I guess, is the fact that 

nter was over and we went — 

MS. DOUGHER: Right, yes. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: — into the spring 

mild temperatures. But does that account for, you know, 

at precipitous fall, just moving from January till April? 

MS. DOUGHER: Yes. You were out of the winter 

ason. So the demand did fall. You'd almost have to go 

ck to 1999. You'd have to go back a couple of years to 

ok at when petroleum prices were extremely low, about $10 

barrel. There was no real drilling going on. And that 
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rt of set the stage for low inventories in the fall and, 

d the fact that the natural gas price could spike so 

ch. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: I guess what I'm 

nfused about is if it can spike so much in the winter of 

00/2001 — 

MS. DOUGHER: Can it do it again? 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: — why doesn't it 

ike every winter if that's really the — I mean, we're 

Iking about prices of $10 — what was it? — $10 and then 

dropped down to 2.18. I mean, that's a major, major 

op. And if that's accounted for by saying, Well, gee, we 

nt from winter to spring or January to April, then why 

esn't it happen at least to some extent every winter like 

at? 

And yet we have those charts that say we can 

back 15, 20 years and never see that kind of a spike. 

MS. DOUGHER: Well, I think you were talking 

out the perfect storm this morning and the coldest winter 

a decade, tight supplies going into the winter with 

wer inventories. All those things set the stage for that 

ice spike. 

And once it shot up that high, utilities 

oked for other sources of supplies, switched to 

stillate, switched to what they could. That had 
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percussions in the gasoline market. We're making more 

stillate, less gasoline. It had repercussions through 

e whole system. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. Well, 

pefully we won't see the perfect storm again for a while. 

ank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you, Representative 

nnessey. And as we were going through this, I started to 

velop these different theories. I had this theory that 

e reason the gas prices were, the natural gas prices were 

ing up is because the utilities were using the natural 

s because the petroleum prices were so high. They didn't 

itch over to petroleum. 

Then you say, Well, they switched over to 

troleum. And that caused a — 

MS. DOUGHER: Well, that did last winter — 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: And then I'm thinking, 

11, maybe some guy is sitting there. And as these prices 

e fluctuating, they're trying to decide whether or not 

ey're going to buy. Well, we'll wait till the price goes 

wn. And the price goes up. Well, we'll wait till the 

ice goes down. And it just keeps on going up. 

And they're just constantly putting off these 

rchases. But if they're putting off the purchases, that 

ans the supply out there is not being sold. And 
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mebody's controlling that price. And something's 

ppening to make the price go up if people are waiting to 

Y-

MS. DOUGHER: Well, supplies are very tight, 

ght. And that will push the prices up when the demand's 

ing up. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Okay. Well, are the 

pplies tight not because of demand but because production 

s low? 

MS. DOUGHER: Yes, production was low because 

e prices had been less expensive before. There was less 

illing, less product being stored. Yes. It's sort of 

clical, that yin and yang that was mentioned. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Well, thank you very 

ch, Ms. Dougher. 

MS. DOUGHER: Dougher. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Dougher. I'm sorry. 

MS. DOUGHER: That's okay. Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: Thank you very much for 

pearing before the committee and sharing this information 

th us. It was very, very helpful. 

MS. DOUGHER: Thank you. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you very 

ch. 

CHAIRPERSON GANNON: No further business 
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ifore the committee. This meeting is adjourned. 

(Whereupon, at 1:41 p.m., the hearing 
adjourned.) 

* * * * 
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